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1) consolidated net income: income attributable to shareholders in Roth & Rau AG   
2) return on equity: EBIT/shareholders’ equity as of 30 September (EBIT for 2009 financial year as a whole: € 16,100k)

Key Figures (IFRS) 

€ 000s   01.01.–30.09.2010 01.01.–30.09.2009 Change 
 
Sales   189,238 159,514 18.6 %
International share in % 92.9 81.8 11.1 PP
New orders 392,068 83,453 369.8 %
Orders on hand as of 30.09. 364,599 134,570 170.9 %
EBITDA  13,388 19,312 -30.7 %
EBITDA margin in % 7.1 12.1 -5.0 PP
EBIT   3,004 13,127 -77.1 %
EBIT margin in % 1.6 8.2 -6.6 PP
Tax rate in % 0.5 23.0 -22.5 PP
Consolidated net income 1) 2,776 10,571 -73.7 %
Earnings per share in € 0.18 0.77 -76.6 %
Employees as of 30.09. 1,181 857 37.8 %
Investments 75,153 22,780 229.9 %
Operating cash flow 19,621 -1,361 1,541.7 % 
 
 
€ 000s   30.09.2010 31.12.2009 Change 
 
Total assets 410,687 298,819 37.4 %
Shareholders’ equity 286,333 219,278 30.6 %
Equity ratio in % 69.7 73.4 -3.7 PP
Return on equity 2) 1.0 7.3 -6.3 PP
Cash and cash equivalents 60,304 66,041 -8.7 %
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Letter to  
Shareholders

Dear Shareholders,

We can look back on a further quarter of growth. After the first nine months we boosted our sales 
year-on-year by 18.6 % from € 159.5 million to € 189.2 million. At the same time, we can currently report 
the highest volume of orders on hand in the company’s history.  

In terms of our earnings, we have nevertheless had to announce weak EBIT of € 3.0 million – given 
write-downs of € 8.5 million – and a reduction in our forecast for the financial year as a whole to 
between € 9.0 million and € 9.5 million. This is just as disappointing for us as it is for our investors. It is 
due in part to projects being cancelled. The main items here on the one hand relate to turnkey 
projects from 2008 and 2009 with partners in India that have been cancelled and can thus no longer be 
implemented in the short term. On the other hand, they also involve two projects in Spain where vari-
ous project handling problems both on our part and on the part of the various project partners mean 
that our outstanding receivables will not be settled in the short term. For reasons of caution, we have 
therefore written these down. Not only that, we have taken these specific developments as an oppor-
tunity to account for the maximum extent of all known further earnings risks for the year as a whole. 
That too is one of the reasons for the substantial variance to previous forecasts. We believe it is 
important to adopt this approach so as to banish the risk of surprising our investors with negative 
news once again at a later date. Not only that, on this basis we can issue a positive outlook for the 
coming 2011 financial year. Here, we can report significantly higher earnings potential once again – 
not least since the charges on our earnings are of a one-off nature in the overwhelming majority  
of cases. 

Furthermore, a variety of factors lead us to expect a sustainably better EBIT margin in the coming 2011 
financial year. Firstly, our orders on hand are benefiting from a trend that is not only highly positive in 
itself, but also increasingly shifting towards our high-margin equipment business, an area where we 
will generate substantial sales growth and correspondingly high EBIT contributions in 2011. Secondly, 
we will also improve our profitability in our turnkey business in 2011, as our current projects involve a 
significantly higher share of proprietary products and processes. This not only enables us to benefit 
from the margin on the equipment, but also to considerably reduce the related project handling risks. 



One particular milestone in the third quarter was the market launch of a mass production system based 
on heterojunction technology. For two years now, we have been working hard at our Swiss Technology 
Centre to develop heterojunction solar cells, which offer efficiency potential of more than 20 % while 
also being inexpensive to manufacture. The sale of the first system documents the rapid development 
progress made and confirms our long-term research and development strategy. Only by making ongoing, 
suitable investments in research and development will we be able to secure our further growth and 
boost our leading international market position. 

Thirdly, to further improve our profitability we adopted “CRiSP”, a group-wide cost and structure  
optimisation programme, in September. “CRiSP” is intended to strengthen our group structure in 
the long term and press consistently ahead with rapidly integrating the companies we have recently 
acquired, thus enabling us to exploit the expected synergy effects. This will be made possible, for 
example, by introducing ongoing cost cuts within other operating expenses, among other areas, and 
by optimising our organisational and process structures. This is important to enable us to react to 
potential market fluctuations with greater flexibility in all operating divisions.

Notwithstanding the current earnings situation, we therefore believe that we are very much on course 
for 2011. Our focus now is on ensuring that our very strong sales and order situation is reflected in our 
key earnings figures as soon as possible. We will be issuing a specific outlook concerning this positive 
earnings momentum upon the presentation of our 2010 Annual Report. 

We would like to thank you for the trust you have placed in Roth & Rau AG.  

Yours faithfully,

Dr. Dietmar Roth    Carsten Bovenschen
Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer

Thomas Hengst    Dr. Paul Breddels
Chief Sales Officer    Chief Operating Officer
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Roth & Rau’s 
Share

Share price performance 

Having been characterised by falling prices in the first half of 2010, stock markets showed a substan-
tial recovery in the third quarter. The DAX, Germany’s lead index, passed the 6,000 points mark once 
again in August, closing at 6,229 points on 30 September 2010, equivalent to a 3.0 % rise since the 
beginning of the year. The TecDAX, the technology stocks index in which Roth & Rau’s share is also 
listed, also managed to make up for some of the ground lost in the first half of the year. The index 
closed at 781 points on 30 September, and was thus only 6.4 % down on the beginning of the year. 

Solar stocks on the other hand significantly underperformed the overall market. Roth & Rau’s share 
began the quarter on a positive note, but was then unable to escape the difficult sector climate,  
closing at € 17.50 on 30 September 2010. Since the beginning of the year, the share has thus lost  
44.8 % in value. 

At € 2.6 million, the average daily trading volume on all German marketplaces was slightly up on the 
previous year’s figure of € 2.4 million. The market capitalisation amounted to € 283.6 million, as against  
€ 359.4 million in the previous year. Roth & Rau’s share was ranked 20th in the TecDAX at the end of 
the third quarter.

Roth & Rau AG
Interim Report as of 30 September 2010



Key data for Roth & Rau’s share

 
ISIN DE000A0JCZ51
WKN A0JCZ5
Market segment Regulated Market (Prime Standard)
Market ticker R8R
Reuters Instrument Code R8RG.DE
Stock exchanges XETRA, Frankfurt, Berlin, Düsseldorf,  
 Hamburg, Munich, Stuttgart
Indices TecDAX, DAX Plus Family, CDAX, ÖkoDAX
Designated sponsor Commerzbank AG

Key figures for Roth & Rau’s share

 01.01.–30.09.2010 01.01.–30.09.2009
 
Share capital as of 30.09 in €  16,207,045.00 13,800,000.00
No. of shares as of 30.09. 16,207,045 13,800,000
Period high in €  33.15 28.99
Period low in €  17.50 11.01
Closing price on 30.09. in € 17.50 26.04
Average daily trading volume (no. of shares)  108,228 129,928
Average daily trading volume (in € million)  2.6 2.4
Market capitalisation as of 30.09. in € million  283.6 359.4
Earnings per share in €  0.18 0.77

All share prices refer to Xetra closing prices.

4 | 5



Letter to Shareholders
Roth & Rau’s Share
Interim Group Management Report
Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Responsibility Statement
Forward-looking Statements 
Financial Calendar
Contact and Imprint

Shareholder structure 

The shareholder structure has shown the following changes compared with the previous year: The 
shareholdings held by the company founders reduced from 13.34 % to their current level of 11.35 %. 
Furthermore, the OTB Group B.V. now owns a 6.34 % stake in the company and thus constitutes a new 
major shareholder. The free float amounts to 82.31 %. The dilution in the shareholdings held by existing 
shareholders was due to the two capital increases executed to the exclusion of subscription rights  
in the first half of 2010. In the first round, the share capital was increased from € 13,800,000 to  
€ 15,179,999 by issuing 1,379,999 new shares on 10 February. This was followed in early April by a cap-
ital increase in return for non-cash contributions to partly finance the takeover of OTB Solar B.V. This 
involved issuing 1,027,046 new shares to OTB Solar’s parent company, the OTB Group B.V., which in 
return transferred all of its shares in OTB Solar to Roth & Rau AG. The Group’s share capital thus 
increased to a total of € 16,207,045.   

Shareholder structure  

Status: November 2010, in %

Dr. Dietmar Roth 4.90

Dr. Bernd Rau 4.65

Prof. Dr. Silvia Roth 1.80

OTB Group B.V. 6.34

Freefloat 82.31



Roth & Rau AG  Interim Report as of 30 September 2010

Interim Group  
Management Report

Roth & Rau AG
Interim Report as of 30 September 2010
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Business and economic framework 

Macroeconomic developments

Overall, the pace of recovery in the global economy has slowed as the year has progressed. Given  
the drastic deterioration in state finances, most advanced economies have found themselves obliged 
to adopt a course of consolidation. Not only that, major emerging economies are also attempting to  
counter the possibility of overheating by tightening up their economic policies.

Based on estimates compiled by the “Euro-zone economic outlook” research project, year-on-year 
growth in the gross domestic product (GDP) of the euro area amounted to 0.3 % in the third quarter, 
thus also losing momentum compared with the first half of the year. This development reflects the 
weakening in international demand and increasing fiscal consolidation in numerous member states. 

The upturn in the German economy has continued and gained a broader footing, with the domestic 
economy now also increasingly contributing to the recovery. Private consumer spending has risen 
noticeably, as have company investments. Following the dynamic GDP growth seen in the first half  
of 2010, however, in their current autumn survey leading economic experts now expect the pace of 
growth in Germany to slow. 

Sector development

The market for production equipment for the photovoltaics industry developed positively in the third 
quarter of 2010 as well, with a further rise in international demand both for individual equipment and 
for turnkey production lines. Given ever greater pressure on costs, there is increasing demand for cell  
production technologies that facilitate substantially higher efficiency rates while at the same time  
significantly reducing production costs. Against this backdrop, the updating of existing systems with 
technological upgrades is also gaining in importance. 

Manufacturers worldwide are consistently extending their capacities, with the Asian equipment  
market still reporting the strongest growth. China in particular, which is according ever greater priority 
to energy policy, has pressed ahead with developing and extending its production capacities. Within 
a five-year plan for the period from 2011 to 2015, the Chinese government plans to introduce a national 
emissions trading system to enable it to achieve the agreed greenhouse gas reduction targets. These 
efforts will also impact positively on the Chinese solar market in the long term.

Business performance

Group structure

A total of 26 companies have been fully consolidated and one company included at equity in the  
interim consolidated financial statements as of 30 September 2010. The scope of consolidation has 
thus increased by four companies compared with the balance sheet date as of 31 December 2009. 
The latest additions were OTB Solar B.V. (OTB), based in Eindhoven, Netherlands, and its three  
subsidiaries, which were taken over in April 2010. Further information about the scope of consolida-
tion can be found in the notes to the financial statements (Note 1.2.2.).
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Sales and earnings performance 

The positive development in sales figures continued in the third quarter. Sales for the period from  
July to September 2010 rose by 65.8 % from € 42,469k to € 70,414k. Sales for the first nine months of  
the year rose year-on-year by 18.6 % from € 159,514k to € 189,238k. The international share of sales 
amounted to 92.9 %, as against 81.8 %. Asia alone accounted for a 79.2 % share of sales (2009: 53.4 %).

Earnings were burdened in particular by write-downs of € 8.5 million. Due to massive delays in a  
turnkey project in India, with the possibility of the project being cancelled entirely, prorated sales 
were reclassified to own account and written down by 30 % in the third quarter. Further charges 
resulted from increased expenses incurred in connection with project delays, from potential contrac-
tual penalties in connection with the handling of two turnkey projects in Spain and from write-downs 
on receivables reported under current assets and from higher provisions. Furthermore, additional 
expenses were incurred on development services performed to complete a key account customer 
project involving a new production step being implemented for the first time in mass production. 
Specifically, individual expense items and key earnings figures developed as follows: 

The cost of materials rose by 44.0 % to € 151,169k in the first nine months of 2010 (2009: € 104,995k). 
This was attributable in particular to the integration into the Group of OTB, which works with a very 
high share of externally supplied modules in its component production. As a result, the materials 
expense ratio rose from 65.8 % to 79.9 %. Personnel expenses amounted to € 44,753k, equivalent to a 
60.8 % increase on the previous year’s figure (2009: € 27,836k). This was due on the one hand to the 
growth in the Group’s workforce, which was continued in the past year. Personnel resources in the 
research and development, technology, engineering and administration departments have been 
boosted with new highly-qualified employees. On the other hand, the acquisition also contributed to 
the increase in personnel expenses. Accordingly, the personnel expense ratio amounted to 23.6 %, as 
against 17.5 % in the previous year. 

Other operating expenses rose by 76.5 % from € 23,217k to € 40,982k, a development due in particular 
to higher advertising and travel expenses on account of the increasing internationalisation of the 
Group’s business activities, as a result of the initial consolidation of OTB, consulting expenses in con-
nection with company acquisitions, and additional expenses incurred to expand external sales part-
nerships and restructure the Group’s service business. Moreover, expenses were also increased by 
the write-downs recognised for current assets and the additions to provisions, both of which recog-
nised due to commercial prudence considerations. 

As a result of the aforementioned one-off items, the positive sales performance was not reflected in 
the key earnings figures. At € 13,388k, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) for the first nine months fell 19.9 % short of the previous year’s figure of € 19,312k. The 
EBITDA margin therefore amounted to 7.1 % (2009: 12.1 %). Depreciation and amortisation rose to  
€ 10,384k, up from € 6,185k in the previous year’s period. Of this total, an amount of € 2,399k related to 
depreciation and amortisation at OTB. This item also includes depreciation and amortisation of  
€ 2,997k for assets recognised in the context of purchase price allocations (2009: € 2,103k) and amorti-
sation of € 4,394k for development expenses capitalised in previous periods (2009: € 2,181k). 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) amounted to € 3,004k (2009: € 13,127k), corresponding to an 
EBIT margin of 1.6 % (2009: 8.2 %). The financial result amounted to € -146k (2009: € 653k). This resulted 
in earnings before taxes (EBT) of € 2,858k, as against € 13,780k in the previous year’s period. Due to tax 
optimisation measures, taxes on income showed a disproportionate reduction to € 15k, corresponding 
to a tax rate of 0.5 % (2009: 23.0 %). The consolidated net income attributable to shareholders of  
Roth & Rau AG amounted to € 2,776k (2009: € 10,571k), equivalent to earnings per share of € 0.18 
(2009: € 0.77).
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Sales and earnings position

 
€ 000s 01.01.– 30.09.2010 01.01.– 30.09.2009 Change
  
Sales 189,238 159,514 18.6 %
International share in % 92.9 81.8 11.1 PP
EBITDA 13,388 19,312 -30.7 %
EBITDA margin in % 7.1 12.1 -5.0 PP
Depreciation and  
amortisation 10,384 6,185 67.9 %
EBIT 3,004 13,127 -77.1 %
EBIT margin in % 1.6 8.2 -6.6 PP
Net financial result -146 653 /
EBT 2,858 13,780 -79.3 %
EBT margin in % 1.5 8.6 -7.1 PP
Consolidated net  
income attributable  
to shareholders in  
Roth & Rau AG 2,776 10,571 -73.7 %
Earnings per share in € 0.18 0.77 -76.6 % 

Order position

The global expansion in capacities in the photovoltaics industry continued a pace in the third quarter 
of 2010. The Roth & Rau Group received new orders of € 126,907k in the period from July to September, 
up from € 18,291k in the previous year. Total order volume for the first nine months as a whole thus 
grew from € 83,453k to € 392,068k. The international share rose from 75.1 % to 96.1 %, with 88.3 %, and 
thus a large majority attributable to the Asian region (2009: 59.8 %). This development reflects the 
increasing migration of solar cell and module production to Asia, and especially to China. Orders on 
hand totalled € 364,599k as of 30 September 2010 (2009: € 134,570k), thus setting a new record.  

 
Order position 

€ 000s 01.01.– 30.09.2010 01.01.– 30.09.2009 Change
  
New orders 392,068 83,453 369.8%
International share in % 96.1 75.1 21.0 PP
Orders on hand as of 30.09. 364,599 134,570 170.9%
Book-to-bill ratio 2.1 0.5 320.0%

The photovoltaics segment received new orders of € 110,681k in the third quarter. In the first nine 
months as whole, this segment thus contributed € 339,516k to total order volumes (2009: € 59,078k). Of 
this total, € 124,121k related to orders for turnkey production lines and € 215,395k to the individual 
equipment business. The individual equipment business benefited above all from the market launch  
of the new generation of SiNA antireflective coating systems, which offer numerous technological 
innovations and cost benefits compared with the earlier model. 
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In September, Roth & Rau sold its first mass production system based on heterojunction technology  
to an American customer. This new cell technology based on heterojunction technology, which has 
been developed at the Swiss Technology Centre run by Roth & Rau Switzerland, enables efficiency 
levels in excess of 20 % to be achieved while ensuring inexpensive manufacturing costs. 

The structural and process enhancements introduced and implemented in the Group’s sales activities 
in the Asian region enabled Roth & Rau to achieve disproportionate new order growth in Asia compared 
with the development in the overall market, and thus to acquire additional market share. In particular, 
the Group has successfully extended its customer potential by acquiring 22 new customers. 

New orders in the plasma and ion beam technology segment showed a marked improvement from  
€ 6,515k to € 14,746k. This positive development was driven on the one hand by the significantly better 
investment climate in the semiconductor industry and on the other by follow-up orders for existing 
and newly developed products. At the beginning of the year, the Group thus acquired follow-up orders 
from an existing customer for IonScan systems to calibrate frequencies in acoustic-electrical filters 
used in mobile communications. Furthermore, in the period under report, the Group also supplied  
precision coating systems for optics components to one of the world’s leading optics systems 
manufacturers.

New orders in the other activities segment also grew sharply from € 17,860k to € 37,806k. This increase 
was due to new order growth in the spare parts and service business by € 20,573k to € 27,015k. OTB 
Solar contributed orders of € 4,042k in this area. 

New orders by segment   

€ 000s 01.01.– 30.09.2010 01.01.– 30.09.2009 Change 

Photovoltaics 339,516 59,078 474.7 %
 Individual equipment 215,395 26,849 702.2 %
 Turnkey 124,121 32,229 285.1 %
Plasma and ion  
beam technology 14,746 6,515 126.3 %
Other activities 37,806 17,860 111.7 % 
 Spare parts  
 and services 27,015 6,442 319.4 %
 Software 7,214 6,312 14.3 %
 Miscellaneous 3,577 5,106 -29.9 %
Total 392,068 83,453 369.8 %
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Segment report

The business activities of the Roth & Rau Group are divided into three segments, namely photovolta-
ics, plasma and ion beam technology, and other activities. The photovoltaics segment comprises the 
range of products, technologies and services offered to the photovoltaics industry. The plasma and 
ion beam technology segment consists of equipment and process systems for thin film and surface 
processing methods for use in other sectors, as well as in research and development. As the Group’s 
technological germ cell, this segment is of particular strategic significance. The third segment, other 
activities, includes the spare parts and service business, software products and additional products 
and services. Unlike in the previous year, the comparative segment figures have been presented 
before consolidation. The previous year’s figures reported here are thus not directly comparable with 
those in the quarterly report as of 30 September 2009.

Photovoltaics
The photovoltaics segment generated sales of € 56,712k in the third quarter of this year, equivalent to 
a 77.3 % improvement on the previous year’s period (2009: € 31,980k). Overall, sales for the first nine 
months grew by 19.3 % from € 127,168k to € 151,674k. This segment thus accounted for an 80.2 % share 
of consolidated sales (2009: 79.7 %). The international share rose from 90.4 % to 99.4 %. Having still 
generated a loss in the first quarter of 2010, key earnings figures in the photovoltaics segment have 
improved significantly as the year has progressed. EBITDA amounted to € 6,651k at the end of the 
third quarter.

The sales for the first nine months were largely generated in the individual equipment business. Year-
on-year, sales here grew by € 91,275k from € 66,345k to € 157,620k, equivalent to growth of 137.6 %. 
Due to one-off items, EBIT were unable to rise to the same extent. Write-downs of € 2,924k were thus 
recognised in the individual equipment business in the third quarter of 2010. These were accompanied 
by one-off expenses for the conversion of project-related production to line production and the estab-
lishment of a new model series.

In the turnkey business, one discontinued customer project was reclassified in the second quarter of 
2010 from receivables from long-term construction contracts to own-account work. This was followed 
in the third quarter by the reclassification of a further Indian project (€ 9,560k) due to a conservative 
valuation from prorated sales recognised using the percentage of completion method to own-account 
work. This reclassification impacted negatively on segment sales to the tune of € 18,697k. The man-
agement expects it to be possible to use these stocks of components for current turnkey orders and 
thus to generate sales with them at the beginning of 2011. Further charges on EBIT resulted from 
project delays in the handling of two turnkey projects in Spain and the provisions requiring recognition 
as a result. Of the write-downs recognised for reasons of caution in the third quarter of 2010, a total 
amount of € 5,506k was attributable to the turnkey business. The cadmium telluride subdivision 
accounted until now for a € 630k charge on EBIT of the current year. 

Due in particular to the losses in the turnkey business, the EBITDA margin deteriorated to 4,4 %, down 
10.7 % on the previous year’s figure. The aforementioned one-off items impacted in particular on EBIT 
which, at € 1,069k, fell far short of the previous year’s figure of € 11,300k. 

The number of employees working in the photovoltaics segment of Roth & Rau increased from 451 to 
721 as of 30 September 2010.
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Key figures: photovoltaics

 Individual equipment Turnkey Total Change
   production lines
 01.01.– 01.01.– 01.01.– 01.01.– 01.01.– 01.01.–  
€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009 30.09.2010 30.09.2009 30.09.2010 30.09.2009

Sales 157,620 66,345 -5,946 60,823 151,674 127,168 19.3 % 
EBITDA 18,058 10,771 -11,407 2,783 6,651 13,554 -50.9 %
EBITDA margin in % 11.5 16.2 / 4.6 4.4 10.7 -6.3 PP
Depreciation  and 
amortisation 4,630 1,601 952 653 5,582 2,254 147.6 %
EBIT  13,428 9,170 -12,359 2,130 1,069 11,300 -90.5 % 
EBITDA margin in % 8.5 13.8 / 3.5 0.7 8.9 -8.2 PP
Employees as of 30.09. 609 365 112 86 721 451 59.9 %
        

Plasma and ion beam technology
The plasma and ion beam technology segment (PIB) contributed € 7,094k to consolidated sales in the 
first nine months (2009: € 7,858k). This corresponds to a 3.7 % share of consolidated sales, as against 
4.9 % in the previous year. At 36.7 %, the international share of sales was more or less the same as in 
the previous year (2009: 36.1 %). Segment profitability could be improved significantly in the period 
under report. EBITDA grew from € 755k to € 1,415k, as a result of which the EBITDA margin increased 
from 9.6 % to 19.9 %. EBIT improved year-on-year from € -175k to € 827k, corresponding to an EBIT 
margin of 11.7 %. In the previous year, EBIT had been affected by a high volume of write-downs on 
development projects. The number of employees working in the plasma and ion beam technology seg-
ment rose from 66 to 72 as of 30 September 2010.

 
Key figures: plasma and ion beam technology

€ 000s 01.01.–30.09.2010 01.01.–30.09.2009 Change 

Sales 7,094 7,858 -9.7 %
EBITDA 1,415 755 87.4 %
EBITDA margin in % 19.9 9.6 10.3 PP
Depreciation and  
amortisation 588 930 -36.8 %
EBIT 827 -175 /
EBIT margin in % 11.7 / /
Employees as of 30.09. 72 66 9.1 %

Other activities 
Nine-month sales in the other activities segment grew by 24.4 % from € 24,488k to € 30,470k. This  
segment thus accounted for 16.1 % of consolidated sales, as against 15.4 % in the previous year. The 
main sales driver was the increasingly important spare parts and service business. Sales here 
showed substantial year-on-year growth, rising from € 8,161k to € 20,994k. Sales with other products 
sunk from € 3,784k to € 2,712k. The software division, which mainly includes the business at  
the AIS Automation and Romaric Automation subsidiaries, contributed € 6,764k to segment sales 
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(2009: € 12,543k). This decline is due above all to a reduction in sales in the Factory Automation Photo-
voltaics division due to a lower volume of new orders in the 2009 crisis year. EBITDA improved by  
7.1 % to € 4,905k in the first nine months of the year – and that despite considerable investment in 
developing service structures in Asia, the start-up expenses incurred at the service companies there, 
and the impact of high Chinese import duties on spare parts from Europe. At € 3,688k, EBIT was at the 
same level as in the previous year, but the EBIT margin fell by 2.9 percentage points. The number of 
employees rose year-on-year from 340 to 388. 

Financial and net asset position 

Cash flow
The cash flow from operating activities showed a clear year-on-year improvement from € -1,361k to  
€ 19,621k in the first nine months of 2010. On the one hand, receivables from long-term construction 
contracts declined by € 26,680k, while receivables and other assets decreased by € 5,947k. The cash 
flow from operating activities was also boosted by the increase in business-related liabilities. These 
factors were countered by the increase in inventories to € 44,120k, due not least to the conversion to a 
modular production concept in the second generation of our coating systems and to OTB’s invento-
ries, as well as by the € 10,561k reduction in liabilities from long-term construction contracts. Overall, 
the reduction in working capital led to an inflow of funds of € 1,935k, compared with an outflow of 
funds of € 20,650k in the previous year. The cash flow from investing activities was affected by the 
OTB acquisition and the investments made in development activities. These factors led to an outflow 
of funds of € 34,483k, as against € 17,877k in the previous year’s period. Financing activities led to a 
positive cash flow of € 9,492k in the first nine months (2009: € -996k). The proceeds of € 35,880k from 
the capital increase executed in return for cash contributions in the first quarter have been used in 
the further course of the year to repay a loan of € 22,228k at the new OTB subsidiary. As of 30 Septem-
ber 2010, Roth & Rau thus had cash and cash equivalents of € 60,304k (2009: € 71,182k). 

Key figures: other activities

 
 Spare parts Software  Other   Total  Change 
 and services
 01.01– 01.01.– 01.01.– 01.01.– 01.01– 01.01.– 01.01.– 01.01.–
€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009 30.09.2010 30.09.2009 30.09.2010 30.09.2009 30.09.2010 30.09.2009  

Sales 20,994 8,161 6,764 12,543 2,712 3,784 30,470 24,488 24.4 %
EBITDA 2,690 1,294 1,624 2,234 591 1,050 4,905 4,578 7.1 %
EBITDA margin  
in % 12.8 15.9 24 17.8 21.8 27.7 16.1 18.7 -2.6 PP
Depreciation /  
Amortisation 407 146 747 621 63 131 1,217 898 35.5 %
EBIT 2,283 1,148 877 1,613 528 919 3,688 3,680 0.2 %
EBIT margin  
in % 10.9 14.1 13,0 12.9 19.5 24.3 12.1 15.0 -2.9 PP
Employees  
as of 30.09. 159 117 166 161 63 62 388 340 14.1 % 
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Select key figures on liquidity position

 
€ 000s 01.01.-30.09.2010 01.01.-30.09.2009
 
Cash flow 17,686 19,289
Decrease (+) / increase (-) in working capital   1,935 -20,650
Cash flow from operating activities  19,621 -1,361
Cash flow from investing activities -34,483 -17,877
Cash flow from financing activities 9,492 -996
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 66,041 91,515
Change in cash and cash equivalents  
due to changes in exchange rates, scope  
of consolidation and valuation -367 -99
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period  60,304 71,182

Balance sheet
The key balance sheet figures as of 30 September 2010 have been significantly affected by the  
OTB acquisition and the capital increases executed in the first half of the year. Total assets rose by  
€ 111,868k from € 298,819k to € 410,687k. 

On the asset side, intangible assets rose by € 56,861k from € 49,585k to € 106,446k. This increase was 
due on the one hand to the intangible assets of € 32,094k identified at OTB upon the preliminary purchase 
price allocation. Furthermore, capitalised development expenses rose by € 26,604k to € 45,496k. These 
development expenses are countered at the parent company alone by order volumes of € 92,683k.  
The resultant sales generated at the parent company amounted to € 30,504k as of 30 September 2010. 
Property, plant and equipment continued to rise, increasing by € 7,803k to € 35,831k at the end of the 
first nine months (31.12.2009: € 28,028k). Other non-current receivables rose to € 8,269k, up by € 7,333k 
on the balance sheet date. 

This is due above all to the conversion of trade receivables into a convertible bond. Roth & Rau has 
participated with an amount of US$ 15 million in a financing round of US$ 41 million in total. Unlike  
the other participants, however, Roth & Rau is not contributing its amount in cash, but is offsetting it 
against outstanding payment receivables. The convertible bond has a term running until 20 December 
2014. Scheduled repayment begins on 1 July 2011 and provides for a one-off special repayment as of 
30 June 2011. In the event of non-payment by the customer, the convertible bond can be converted 
into shares in this unlisted customer. The bond creditors receive prior-ranking security over the  
customers’ entire assets. In the event of insolvency, their claims would therefore be satisfied before 
those of all other creditors, a factor which has considerably improved the security for this customer 
receivable. Supplies amounting to US$ 24,167k were invoiced in the first 9 months. Of these, an 
amount of US$ 12,081k has been paid and amount of US$ 10,312k included in the convertible bond. 

Furthermore, due mainly to tax loss carryovers at OTB, the deferred tax assets of the Roth & Rau Group 
rose by € 20,706k from € 651k to € 21,357k. As of 30 September 2010, non-current assets amounted to a 
total of € 172,107k (31.12.2009: € 79,744k).
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Current assets rose by € 19,505k to € 238,580k as of 30. September 2010 (31.12.2009: € 219,075k). On  
the one hand, inventories showed a marked increase of € 50,695k from € 22,000k to € 72,695k. This 
increase in stocks was attributable to the ongoing strong order performance, the integration of the 
OTB Group and the reclassification to stocks of former customer projects. Moreover, inventories 
were also increased by the gradual transition to modular production. Receivables from long-term 
construction contracts, by contrast, dropped by € 26,580k to € 67,852k, while trade and other receiva-
bles reduced by € 3,976k to € 29,409k as of 30 September 2010. This reduction was mainly due to the 
reclassification of receivables from discontinued customer projects and the reclassification of the 
convertible bond to non-current receivables. Cash and cash equivalents decreased to € 60,304k, down 
by € 5,737k compared with 31 December 2009. 

On the liabilities side, shareholders’ equity rose significantly compared with the 2009 balance sheet 
date due to the two capital increases executed in the first half of the year, amounting to € 286,333k  
at the end of the first nine months (31.12.2009: € 219,278k). Share capital increased by € 2,403k to  
€ 16,203k. The issue of new shares contributed € 2,407k to the increase in share capital, while the 
acquisition of treasury stock shares was accounted for at € -4k. An amount of € 61,857k was trans-
ferred to the capital reserve, which grew from € 149,498k to € 211,355k as a result. Furthermore, the 
consolidated net income for the first nine months led to a further increase in shareholders’ equity. The 
equity ratio amounted to 69.7 %, compared with 73.4 % as of 31 December 2009.

Non-current debt rose by € 3,611k from € 23,762k to € 27,373k, a development due above all to the 
increase in deferred tax liabilities by € 3,950k to € 23,864k. Current debt also grew by € 41,202k to  
€ 96,981k as of 30 September 2010 (31.12.2009: € 55,779k). This in turn was chiefly due to the rise in 
trade payables and other liabilities by € 12,373k to € 47,562k (31.12.2009: € 35,189k), as well as to the  
€ 17,161k increase in current provisions to € 27,730k (31.12.2009: € 10,569k). Moreover, liabilities from 
long-term construction contracts increased by € 4,649k from € 2,468k to € 7,117k. 

Select key balance sheet figures

€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009 Change  

Total assets 410,687 298,819 37.4 %
Shareholders‘ equity 286,333 219,278 30.6 %
Equity ratio in % 69.7 73.4 -3.7 PP
 

Investments

Roth & Rau invested a total of € 75,153k in the first nine months of 2010 (2009: € 22,780k). Of this total, 
an amount of € 14,795k (2009: € 7,919k) involved capitalised development expenses, less allocable  
government grants of € 1,585k (2009: € 831k). Roth & Rau invested € 390k in other intangible assets 
(2009: € 566k). Investments in property, plant and equipment amounted to € 8,481k, as against € 5,543k 
in the previous year. In the context of acquisitions of new subsidiaries, an amount of € 18,475k related 
to the non-current assets thereby acquired (2009: € 3,606k), while € 33,012k related to the intangible 
assets identified upon the purchase price allocation (2009: € 5,146k).
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Employees

The total workforce of the Roth & Rau Group grew by 37.8 % from 857 employees at the previous 
year’s reporting date to 1,181 employees as of 30 September 2010. This growth in the workforce was 
chiefly due to the acquisitions made and the expansion of personnel resources in the research and 
development, technology, engineering and administration departments. The number of trainees also 
increased from 32 to 36. In terms of regional distribution, the number of employees working at foreign 
group companies has risen sharply from 69 to 301 employees. This development was also driven by 
the new OTB subsidiary, which has 178 employees at foreign locations. 

Opportunity and risk report 

The systematic management of opportunities and risks represents a core aspect of the management 
of the Roth & Rau Group. The individual instruments and methods used for the early identification, 
analysis and management of risks are being continually enhanced and adapted to changes in the 
environment in which the company operates. The key objectives and measures taken to manage 
opportunities and risks are described in detail in the 2009 Annual Report, as are the individual oppor-
tunities and risks. There are no risks to the company’s continued existence at present, neither have 
any been identified for the future. 

Events after the balance sheet date

Events after the balance sheet date have been presented in the notes to the financial statements 
(Note 5.2.).

Outlook

Macroeconomic developments
The further development in the global economy is currently subject to substantial risks. There is the 
risk of a renewed recession in the USA and the debt crisis and resultant crisis of confidence in some 
euro area member states has not yet been overcome. China faces the prospect of a massive correc-
tion in its real estate market. Forecasts for global GDP growth thus amount to 3.7 % in 2010 and 2.8 % 
in 2011. 

The economic recovery in Germany is set to continue at a slower pace. This is the expectation of 
leading economic research institutes in their autumn survey, where they point in particular to the 
slowdown in global growth, which will impact negatively on the German export sector. The domestic 
economy, on the other hand, is benefiting from the favourable monetary framework and ongoing 
improvements on the labour market. All in all, experts expect German GDP to grow by 3.5 % in real 
terms in 2010. The unemployment total is set to decline to 3.25 million. GDP growth of 2.0 % is expected 
in 2011.
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Sector developments 
Long-term growth prospects for the photovoltaics industry remain just as positive as before. Along-
side increasing global energy needs, key factors driving the further development of renewable ener-
gies include the limited supply of fossil fuels and ongoing climate change. For solar energy, the 
achievement of grid parity, i.e. the point at which solar electricity can compete in terms of prices with 
the conventional electricity market, in the foreseeable future is crucial. This process should be accel-
erated by the sharp fall in solar system prices and the development of new production technologies. 
Assuming that the market continues to develop dynamically, the German Federal Environment Ministry 
believes that grid parity could be reached in Germany as soon as 2013. 

This development will impact positively on demand for production equipment. Manufacturers will in 
future have to invest heavily in upgrading their equipment and expanding their capacities on the one 
hand to cut their costs by working with the latest technology and achieve higher output efficiency 
rates and on the other hand to satisfy rising global demand for solar energy. 

The German solar market is expected to develop significantly more slowly in the remaining months of 
this year and the coming year. This is due in particular to the reduction in solar subsidies resolved by 
the German Federal Government, a development which generated dynamic levels of demand in the 
first half of 2010. In 2011, this dip in the German market could be compensated for by Japan and sev-
eral European countries, such as Italy, France and the Czech Republic. Of crucial importance, however, 
will be the further development in the large Asian markets, especially China and India. The USA also 
has great potential as an end consumer market, but there is great uncertainty as to the timeframe 
within which the market will develop. 

Roth & Rau Group 
The nine-month figures presented here are only within the forecast framework in terms of sales. Giv-
en orders on hand of € 354,599k as of 30 September 2010, the Management Board is confident that it 
will reach its sales target of € 285 million for the 2010 financial year as a whole. For the fourth quarter, 
Roth & Rau expects orders to continue to develop stably. 

In view of the write-downs recognised, on the other hand, the Management Board expects EBIT for 
the 2010 financial year as a whole to amount to between € 9 million and € 9.5 million. With this figure, 
we have accounted for all material risks for 2010 currently known to us and established a good basis 
for our earnings performance in 2011. Unlike in the current year, our performance in 2011 will not be 
affected by any material one-off items, while nevertheless remaining subject to the usual risks in the 
project business. From a current perspective and based on the current volume of orders on hand, we 
believe it to be possible to generate a similar volume of sales as in 2010 with significantly improved 
profitability. We will publish a specific forecast for 2011 upon the presentation of our Annual Report. 
All in all, we are nevertheless still in a period in which the business is performing very strongly and 
can point to the highest volume of orders on hand in the company’s history. Given that a significantly 
higher share of the sales envisaged for 2011 will be generated in our high-margin equipment business, 
and that the turnkey business will also contribute improved profit margins, not least on account of the 
new heterojunction technology, we are highly positive about our earnings performance in the coming 
financial year. One further aspect is the boosting of profitability in the spare parts and service busi-
ness, assisted by local production and local procurement, which should significantly reduce import 
duties and transport costs, especially in the spare parts business with our Chinese customers.
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Extensive measures helping to improve our cost efficiency in the long run are due to be implemented 
in the coming months. Specifically, CRiSP involves adjustments to the Group’s structure, to its global 
sales network and the rapid integration of companies recently acquired so as to exploit the expected 
synergy effects in the shortest possible timescale. 

Furthermore, the cost savings generated by optimising organisational structures will also be accom-
panied by adjustments to process structures. This way, the Roth & Rau Group is preparing itself for 
potential future market fluctuations and increasing its flexibility in all operating divisions. By the end 
of 2011 we aim to have a group structure in place that can serve as a basis for sustainably generating 
a double-digit EBIT margin. 

Further strategic focuses still involve research and development and the rapid transfer of new prod-
ucts and technologies into production. The latest example here is the memorandum of understanding 
concerning the supply of an 80 MWp production line for heterojunction solar cells.   
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Assets

€ 000s Notes 30.09.2010 31.12.2009

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 3.2. 106,446 49,585

Property, plant and equipment 3.2. 35,831 28,028

Financial assets 3.2. 51 384

Other non-current receivables 3.3. 8,269 936

Investment property 3.2. 153 160

Deferred tax assets 3.6.2. 21,357 651

Total non-current assets 172,107 79,744

Current assets

Inventories 3.4.1. 72,695 22,000

Receivables from long-term construction contracts 3.4.2. 67,852 94,432

Trade and other receivables 3.4.3. 29,409 33,385

Current tax receivables 3.4.4. 8,320 3,217

Cash and cash equivalents 3.4.5. 60,304 66,041

Total current assets 238,580 219,075

Total assets 410,687 298,819
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Shareholders’ equity and debt 

€ 000s Notes 30.09.2010 31.12.2009

Shareholders’ equity 

Share capital 3.5.1. 16,203 13,800

Capital reserve 3.5.2. 211,355 149,498

Revenue reserves 3.5.3. 6,083 6,041

Other reserves 3.5.4. -3 54

Unappropriated retained earnings 3.5.5. 50,479 47,744

Shares attributable to shareholders in parent company 284,117 217,137

Minority interests 3.5.6. 2,216 2,141

Total shareholders’ equity 286,333 219,278

Non-current debt

Non-current loans 3.6.1. 3,344 3,739

Deferred tax liabilities 3.6.2. 23,864 19,914

Non-current provisions 3.6.3. 165 109

Total non-current debt 27,373 23,762

Current debt

Liabilities from long-term construction contracts 3.7.1. 7,117 2,468

Trade payables and other liabilities 3.7.2. 47,562 35,189

Prepayments received 3.7.3. 11,066 5,289

Current loans 3.7.4. 1,214 1,002

Current tax liabilities 3.7.5. 2,292 1,262

Other current provisions 3.7.6. 27,730 10,569

Total current debt 96,981 55,779

Total debt 124,354 79,541

Total shareholders‘ equity and debt 410,687 298,819
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Consolidated Income Statement
(Total cost accounting)

€ 000s Notes 01.01.– 30.09.2010 01.01.– 30.09.2009 01.07.– 30.09.2010 01.07.– 30.09.2009
  

Sales 4.1. 189,238 159,514 70,414 42,469

Increase/decrease in stocks of finished
products and work in progress 4.2. 38,505 -562 21,263 1,243

Capitalised services rendered to own-account 4.3. 18,303 12,114 4,769 4,791

Other operating income 4.4. 4,246 4,294 546 1,140

250,292 175,360 96,992 49,643

Cost of materials 4.5. -151,169 -104,995 -61,670 -28,429

Personnel expenses 4.6. -44,753 -27,836 -15,920 -9,755

Amortisation of intangible assets and
depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4.7. -10,384 -6,185 -3,873 -1,924

Other operating expenses 4.8. -40,982 -23,217 -18,585 -8,448

Earnings before interest and taxes 3,004 13,127 -3,056 1,087

Financial income 4.9. 622 1,663 149 655

Financial expenses 4.9. -768 -1,010 -295 -340

Net financial result -146 653 -146 315

Earnings before taxes 2,858 13,780 -3,202 1,402

Taxes on income 4.10. -15 -3,171 1,068 -413

Earnings after taxes 2,843 10,609 -2,134 989

Of which:
attributable to minority interests 3.5.6. 67 38 50 -9

Of which: attributable to shareholders 
of Roth & Rau AG 3.5.5. 2,776 10,571 -2,184 998

Earnings carried forward from previous year 3.5.5. 47,744 34,815 0 0

Allocation to revenue reserves 3.5.5. -41 0 1 0

Unappropriated retained earnings 3.5.5. 50,479 45,386 -2,183 998

Basic earnings per share
in EUR / share (IAS 33) 4.11. 0.18 0.77 -0.15 0.08
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Consolidated Income Statement
(Cost of sales accounting)

€ 000s Notes 01.01.-30.09.2010 01.01.– 30.09.2009 01.07.– 30.09.2010 01.07.– 30.09.2009

Sales 4.1. 184,317 107,096 71,539 -12,723

Sales from long-term construction contracts 4.1. 4,921 52,418 -1,125 55,192

Total sales 189,238 159,514 70,414 42,469

Costs incurred to
generate sales (COGS) 138,094 121,885 51,984 31,477

Gross profit 51,144 37,629 18,430 10,992

Sales-related expenses 22,290 10,947 11,361 4,149

Research and development expenses 8,062 4,936 2,141 2,089

General administration expenses 19,586 9,402 7,338 3,628

Other operating income 4.4. 4,246 4,294 546 1,039

Other operating expenses  2,448 3,511 1,192 1,078

Operating profit 3,004 13,127 -3,056 1,087

Net financial result 4.9. -146 653 -146 315

Earnings before taxes 2,858 13,780 -3,202 1,402

Taxes on income 4.10. 15 3,171 -1,068 413

Earnings after taxes 2,843 10,609 -2,134 989

Of which:
attributable to minority interests 3.5.6. 67 38 50 -9

Of which: attributable to shareholders 
in Roth & Rau AG 3.5.5. 2,776 10,571 -2,184 998

Earnings carried forward from previous year 3.5.5. 47,744 34,815 0 0

Allocation to revenue reserves 3.5.5. -41 0 1 0

Unappropriated retained earnings 3.5.5. 50,479 45,386 -2,183 998

Basic earnings per share
in EUR / share (IAS 33) 4.11. 0.18 0.77 -0.15 0.08
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Consolidated Statement of  
Comprehensive Income

€ 000s 01.01.– 30.09.2010 01.01.– 30.09.2009

Earnings after taxes on income 2,843 10,609

Costs of capital increase -2,278 0

Taxes on income 665 0

Change in amount recognised in
equity (currency translation) 20 0

Change in fair value of
available-for-sale financial assets 160 139

Amount transferred to
income statement -135 -802

Taxes on income -7 193

Change in amount recognised in equity 
(available-for-sale financial assets) 18 -470

Change in fair value of derivatives
used for hedging purposes 5 27

Amount transferred
to income statement 0 373

Taxes on income -2 -117

Change in amount recognised
in equity (cash flow hedges) 3 283

of which earnings attributable to minority interests 67 38

of which earnings attributable to shareholders
in Roth & Rau AG 1,204 10,384

Total earnings after taxes and other
comprehensive income 1,271 10,422

Of which earnings attributable to minority interests 67 38

Of which earnings attributable to shareholders
of Roth & Rau AG 1,338 10,460
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

€ 000s Notes 01.01.– 30.09.2010 01.01.– 30.09.2009

Consolidated net income 2,843 10,609

Depreciation / amortisation of non-current assets 3.2./4.7. 10,392 6,193

Gains / Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 198 -53

Change in deferred taxes -234 2,780

Changes in value of derivative financial instruments 10 361

Change in non-current provisions 3.6.3. 56 -783

Non-cash expenses and income 4,424 167

Change in value of equity-settled phantom stock option plan 3.6.3.1. -3 15

Cash flow 17,686 19,289

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories 3.4.1. -44,120 3,988

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in receivables from long-term construction contracts 3.4.2. 26.680 -20,234

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in receivables and other assets 3.4.3. 5.947 3,971

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in prepayments received on orders 3.7.3. 5,538 -6,620

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in liabilities from long-term construction contracts 3.7.1. -10,561 -2,869

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in business-related liabilities 3.7.2. 18,451 1,114

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in working capital 1,935 -20,650

Cash flow from operating activities 19,621 -1,361

Investments in intangible assets 3.2. -15,185 -8,473

Investments in property, plant and equipment 3.2. -8,481 -5,543

Acquisition of subsidiaries, less cash acquired 3.1. -3,312 -3,990

Investments in financial assets 3.2. -7,556 -12

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 51 141

Cash flow from investing activities -34,483 -17,877

Proceeds from capital increase 3.5.1. 35,880 0

Acquisition of treasury stock 3.5.1. -102 0

Costs of capital increase 3.5.2. -2,278 0

Redemption of loans 3.6.1. -24,008 -996

Cash flow from financing activities 9,492 -996

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents -5,370 -20,234

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3.4.5. 66,041 91,515

Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to changes 
in exchange rates, scope of consolidation and valuation -367 -99

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 60,304 71,182
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Statement of Changes in Group Equity

€ 000s Shareholders’ 
equity 
01.01.

Proceeds
from capital

increases

Allocation 
to revenue 

reserves

Acquisition 
of treasury 

stock

Net income for
period and other

comprehensive
income for period

Employee
stock option 
programmes

Shareholders’ 
equity 
30.09.

01.01.– 30.09.2010

Share capital 13,800 2,407 0 -4 0 0 16,203

Capital reserve 149,498 63,473 0 0 -1,613 -3 211,355

Revenue reserves 6,041 0 42 0 0 0 6,083

Other reserves 54 0 0 -98 41 0 -3

Unappropriated
retained earnings 47,744 0 -41 0 2,776 0 50,479

Minority interests 2,141 0 8 0 67 0 2,216

Total 219,278 65,880 9 -102 1,271 -3 286,333

01.01.– 30.09.2009

Share capital 13,800 0 0 0 0 0 13,800

Capital reserve 149,457 0 0 0 0 15 149,472

Revenue reserves 6,041 0 0 0 0 0 6,041

Other reserves 245 0 0 0 -187 0 58

Unappropriated
retained earnings 34,815 0 0 0 10,571 0 45,386

Minority interests 2,098 0 0 0 38 0 2,136

Total 206,456 0 0 0 10,422 15 216,893
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€ 000s Shareholders’ 
equity 
01.01.

Proceeds
from capital

increases

Allocation 
to revenue 

reserves

Acquisition 
of treasury 

stock

Net income for
period and other

comprehensive
income for period

Employee
stock option 
programmes

Shareholders’ 
equity 
30.09.

01.01.– 30.09.2010

Share capital 13,800 2,407 0 -4 0 0 16,203

Capital reserve 149,498 63,473 0 0 -1,613 -3 211,355

Revenue reserves 6,041 0 42 0 0 0 6,083

Other reserves 54 0 0 -98 41 0 -3

Unappropriated
retained earnings 47,744 0 -41 0 2,776 0 50,479

Minority interests 2,141 0 8 0 67 0 2,216

Total 219,278 65,880 9 -102 1,271 -3 286,333

01.01.– 30.09.2009

Share capital 13,800 0 0 0 0 0 13,800

Capital reserve 149,457 0 0 0 0 15 149,472

Revenue reserves 6,041 0 0 0 0 0 6,041

Other reserves 245 0 0 0 -187 0 58

Unappropriated
retained earnings 34,815 0 0 0 10,571 0 45,386

Minority interests 2,098 0 0 0 38 0 2,136

Total 206,456 0 0 0 10,422 15 216,893
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1.  Organisation and principal accounting policies

1.1. Business and company

Roth & Rau AG, the parent company based in Hohenstein-Ernstthal (ISIN DE000A0JCZ51), is a supplier 
of plasma processing systems to the photovoltaics industry. In addition, the company offers components 
and processing systems based on plasma and ion beam technology to other sectors. The systems are 
developed by Roth & Rau and produced and marketed worldwide by the photovoltaics and plasma 
and ion beam technology segments. 

Roth & Rau AG is entered in the Commercial Register of Chemnitz District Court under the  
number HRB 19213. It is a company limited in liability, founded in Germany and based in  
09337 Hohenstein-Ernstthal, An der Baumschule 6 – 8.

1.2. Principal accounting policies

1.2.1. Basis of preparation 
In general, application has been made of the historic cost principle in the preparation of these quarterly 
financial statements, with the exception of investment property, derivative financial instruments and 
financial assets available for sale, which have been measured at fair value. 

The quarterly financial statements have been compiled in euros, the Group’s functional currency. 
Unless otherwise stated, all figures have been rounded up or down to the nearest thousand (€ 000s) in 
line with customary commercial practice.

In these IFRS interim financial statements and the comparative information contained therein, application 
has been made without exception of all International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS/IAS) of the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations of the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) in the form requiring compulsory application in the EU as 
of the balance sheet date. 

1.2.2. Change in the scope of consolidation 
A total of 26 companies were fully consolidated as of 30 September 2010, and one indirect 50 %  
shareholding was included as a joint venture using the equity method pursuant to IAS 31.

The following companies were fully consolidated for the first time in 2010:

R³T Rapid Reactive Radicals Technology GmbH
On 25 February 2010, Roth & Rau Muegge GmbH acquired a further 40 % of the shares in R³T Rapid 
Reactive Radicals Technology GmbH. R³T is a leading manufacturer of remote microwave plasma 
generators for the semiconductor industry. R³T develops and sells remote plasma sources with a 
uniquely compact construction for the generation of highly charged and reactive radicals for dry 
chemicals processes. The purchase price amounted to € 300k, plus maximum expected bonuses of  
€ 350k. Given the 60 % shareholding now held, R³T GmbH is fully consolidated in the financial state-
ments. The company is allocated to the plasma and ion beam technology segment. 
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Roth & Roth Hongkong Limited
Roth & Rau Hongkong Limited was founded on 25 February 2010. This company is allocated to the  
segment service and sales.

OTB Solar B. V.
Roth & Rau AG acquired 100 % of the shares in OTB Solar B.V. on 1 April 2010. The change of control 
took place on 1 April 2010. OTB Solar B.V. is the sole shareholder in PixDro B.V., NedX Solar Trading 
Ltd. and in OTB Taiwan.

The product portfolio of all OTB companies (hereinafter: OTB) consists of systems and technologies 
for the solar industry, especially antireflective coating systems and turnkey production lines for use in 
the manufacture of crystalline silicon solar cells. Moreover OTB’s core competencies also include 
high-rate PECVD coating processes and industrial ink-jet printing applications with interesting poten-
tial for use in the production of new, high-efficiency solar cells. 

The acquisition will enable Roth & Rau AG to increase its market share as an equipment supplier for 
crystalline solar technology and in its turnkey business. Over and above this, the company has 
secured access to new competitive technologies and is thus pressing further ahead with expanding 
its product portfolio. 

The purchase price amounts to € 35.5 million. Of this sum, an amount of € 30.0 million was settled by 
issuing new Roth & Rau shares by way of a capital increase in return for non-cash contributions. The 
remaining € 5.5 million, of which € 2.5 million is due in 2011, is to be paid in cash.

OTB had orders on hand of around € 52 million as of 31 March 2010. 

Overall, the following subsidiaries of Roth & Rau AG were fully consolidated as of 30 September 2010:
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1.3. Foreign currency translation

The quarterly financial statements are presented in euros, which is the Group’s functional currency. 
That is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Roth & Rau Group operates. 
Each company within the Group determines its own functional currency. In the period under report 
the euro was the functional currency of all subsidiaries except Romaric Automation Design Inc. The 
items included in the financial statements of the respective companies have been measured using 
this functional currency.  

in % Direct share Indirect share Imputed share
 

Photovoltaics segment   

Roth & Rau Dünnschicht Solar GmbH 100 0 100
SLS Solar Line Saxony GmbH 51 0 51
Roth & Rau Switzerland AG  100 0 100
Roth & Rau Italy S.r.l. 100 0 100
Roth & Rau CTF Solar GmbH  100 0 100
OTB Solar B. V. 100 0 100
PixDro B. V. 0 100 100
    
 
Plasma and ion  

beam technology segment     

Roth & Rau MicroSystems GmbH  100 0 100
    
 
Other activities segment      

AIS Automation Dresden GmbH 100 0 100
Romaric Automation Design Inc.  
(in the future: Roth & Rau Automation USA Inc.) 0 100 100
Roth & Rau Muegge GmbH  100 0 100
R³T Rapid  
Reactive Radicals Technology GmbH 0 60 60
    
 
Service and sales companies    

Solar Holding Inc. 100 0 100
Roth & Rau USA Inc. 0 100 100
Roth & Rau (Shanghai) Trading Co. Ltd. 100 0 100
Roth & Rau Singapore Pte. Ltd. 100 0 100
Roth & Rau Korea Co. Ltd. 100 0 100
Roth & Rau Australia Pty. Ltd. 100 0 100
Roth & Rau India Pvt. Ltd. 100 0 100
Roth & Rau Hongkong Ltd. 100 0 100
Roth & Rau Ortner GmbH  100 0 100
Roth & Rau Ortner USA Inc. 0 100 100
Roth & Rau Ortner Malaysia Sdn. Bhd 0 100 100
NedX Solar Trading Ltd. 0 100 100
OTB Taiwan 0 100 100
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The exchange rates of major currencies with the euro were as follows:

 
  Exchange rate  Reporting date rate Reporting date rate
 1 € =  on 30.09.2010 on 30.09.2009
    
Swiss francs CHF 1.3287 1.5078
Chinese renminbis CNY 9.1321 9.9958
South Korean wons KRW 1,550.65 1,723.95
Indian rupees INR 61.247 70.001
Canadian dollars CAD 1.4073 1.5709
US dollars USD 1.3648 1.4643
Australian dollars AUD 1.407 1.6596
Singapore dollars  SGD 1.7942 2.0564
Malaysian ringgits MYR 4.2101 5.0679
Hong Kong dollars HKD 10.5918 –
British pounds GBP 0.85995 0.9093

1.4. Changes in accounting policies 

In line with the requirements of International Accounting Standard 34, the quarterly financial state-
ments as of 30 September 2010 have been prepared in condensed form and are consistent with exist-
ing accounting policies. The quarterly financial statements and quarterly management report have not 
been audited, neither have they been subject to any audit review.

2. Segment report 

Operating segments represent the primary segment reporting format of the Group, as its risks and its 
return on equity are primarily affected by differences in the products manufactured and services 
offered. Geographical segments represent the secondary reporting format. The business divisions are 
organised and managed separately in line with the nature of the products and services offered. Each 
segment thus represents a strategic business division whose range of products and markets are  
distinct from those of other segments. Segment information has in principle been based on the same 
methods of recognition and measurement as those applied in the annual financial statements. 

Consolidation chiefly involves the elimination of intercompany profits under inventories. The account-
ing principles for the segments correspond to those outlined for the Group under Accounting Policies. 
“Earnings before taxes” as presented in the income statement represent the benchmark used to 
measure the earnings strength of the Group’s individual segments.

Sales between segments are invoiced and settled at transfer prices customary in the market.
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    Plasma       Group
  Photo- Photo- and  Spare parts     figure
01.01.– 30.09.2010 voltaics   voltaics ion beam   and Miscel-  Margin Consoli- after Margin
€ 000s  equipment turnkey technology Software services laneous Total in % dation  consol. in % 
      
External sales 157,620 -5,946 7,094 6,764 20,994 2,712 189,238   189,238 
Intercompany sales 43,786 6,400 1,748 935 6,354 0 59,223  -59,223 0 
Total sales 201,406 454 8,842 7,699 27,348 2,712 248,461  -59,223 189,238 
 EBITDA 18,058 -11,407 1,415 1,624 2,690 591 12,971 6.9 % 417 13,388 7.1 %
Depreciation and  
amortisation 4,630 952 588 747 407 63 7,387   7,387 
EBIT  13,428 -12,359 827 877 2,283 528 5,584 3.0 % 417 6,001 3.2 %

    Plasma       Group
  Photo- Photo- and  Spare parts     figure
01.01.– 30.09.2009 voltaics  voltaics ion beam   and Miscel-  Margin Consoli- after Margin
€ 000s  equipment turnkey technology Software services laneous Total in % dation  consol. in % 
      
External sales 66,345 60,823 7,858 12,543 8,161 3,784 159,514   159,514 
Intercompany sales 5,544 900 328 1,597 1,873 0 10,242  -10,242 0 
Total sales 71,889 61,723 8,186 14,140 10,034 3,784 169,756  -10,242 159,514 
EBITDA 10,771 2,783 755 2,234 1,294 1,050 18,887 11.8 % -716 18,171 11.4 %
Depreciation and  
amortisation 1,601 653 930 621 146 131 4,082  0 4,082 
EBIT  9,170 2,130 -175 1,613 1,148 919 14,805 9.3 % -716 14,089 8.8 %

The reconciliation with earnings after taxes is as follows:     

€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009 
  
Operating earnings after consolidation 6,001 14,089
Income from badwill on purchase price allocation 0 1,141
Depreciation/amortisation on purchase price allocation -2,997 -2,103
EBIT 3,004 13,127
Financial income 622 1,663
Financial expenses -768 -1,010
Taxes on income -15 -3,171
Earnings after taxes 2,843 10,609 

2.1. Primary segment report by business field
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  Photo-  Photo- Photo- Plasma and  Spare 
01.01.– 30.09.2010 voltaics voltaics  voltaics ion beam  parts and 
€ 000s  equipment turnkey total technology Software services Other Total Share 

Germany 849 0 849 4,491 4,299 2,368 1,415 13,422 7.1 %
International 156,771 -5,946 150,825 2,603 2,465 18,626 1,297 175,816 92.9 %
Europe 7,044 1,818 8,862 473 939 4,948 407 15,629 8.3 %
Asia  147,936 -10,559 137,377 337 36 11,404 726 149,880 79.2 %
USA  1,782 2,795 4,577 1,793 1,490 2,164 36 10,060 5.3 %
Other  9 0 9 0 0 110 128 247 0.1 %
Total  157,620 -5,946 151,674 7,094 6,764 20,994 2,712 189,238 

  Photo-  Photo- Photo- Plasma and  Spare 
01.01.– 30.09.2009 voltaics voltaics  voltaics ion beam  parts and 
€ 000s  equipment turnkey total technology Software services Other Total Share 

Germany 8,026 4,215 12,241 5,021 8,120 1,783 1,890 29,055 18.2 %
International 58,318 56,609 114,927 2,837 4,423 6,378 1,894 130,459 81.8 %
Europe 10,994 17,485 28,479 1,583 2,239 3,328 1,277 36,906 23.1 %
Asia  46,618 35,228 81,846 110 433 2,595 218 85,202 53.4 %
USA  706 3,895 4,601 1,139 1,751 389 202 8,082 5.1 %
Other  1 0 1 5 0 66 197 269 0.2 %
Total  66,345 60,823 127,168 7,858 12,543 8,161 3,784 159,514 

2.2. Secondary segment report by region

The secondary reporting format is based on geographical considerations and shows the distribution 
of external sales by customer location. Segment assets are allocated to the respective location.

Roth & Rau AG manages its activities by reference to the results of its business fields, rather than to 
regional earnings contributions. No further segmentation is therefore required.
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3. Disclosures on individual items in the balance sheet

3.1. Purchase price allocation

The goodwill remaining following purchase price allocation is attributable to various factors.

Goodwill represents the surplus balance at the date of acquisition of the costs of the company acqui-
sition over the share of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities recognised at the Group. The 
goodwill arising from the acquisitions of R³T GmbH and OTB has been recognised under intangible 
assets. 

The intangible assets and useful lives determined in the context of the preliminary purchase price 
allocations for R³T GmbH and OTB Solar B.V. are structured as follows: 

Technology € 167k useful life 8 years
Customer relationships  € 22,347k  useful life  4 –10 years
Orders on hand € 1,298k useful life 1 year
Goodwill                             € 9,200k

The goodwill is mainly attributable to the human capital not eligible for capitalisation embodied by the 
employees at the companies acquired, as well as to synergy effects expected from the transactions.
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 R3T GmbH OTB Solar Gruppe  
 
 Historic  Adjustments Fair values Historic Adjustments Fair values
 carrying  to upon carrying  to upon 
€ 000s amounts fair values acquisition  amounts fair values acquisition
 
Non-current assets       
Intangible assets 1 0 1 9,916 6,736 16,652
Property, plant and equipment 24 0 24 1,798 0 1,798
Financial assets 0 0 0 0 0 0
Deferred taxes 0 0 0 22,498 0 22,498
Total non-current assets 25 0 25 34,212 6,736 40,948
       
Current assets       
Inventories 227 0 227 9,217 0 9,217
Receivables from long-term construction contracts 0 0 0 2 0 2
Trade receivables 98 0 98 6,336 0 6,336
Tax receivables 15 0 15 1,046 0 1,046
Other current receivables 13 0 13 509 0 509
Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 1,003 85 1,088
Total current assets 353 0 353 18,113 85 18,198
       
Total assets 378 0 378 52,325 6,821 59,146
       
Non-current debt       
Pension provisions 0 0 0 0 0 0
Non-current interest-charging debt  210 0 210 22,228 0 22,228
Deferred tax liabilities 0 0 0 0 1,718 1,718
Total non-current debt 210 0 210 22,228 1,718 23,946
       
Current debt       
Other current provisions 55 0 55 8,262 0 8,262
Tax liabilities 5 0 5 250 0 250
Prepayments received 0 0 0 239 0 239
Current interest-charging debt 50  50 1,337 0 1,337
Liabilities from long-term construction contracts 0 0 0 15,210 0 15,210
Trade payables 30  30 133 0 133
Other current liabilities 7 0 7 323 0 323
Total current debt 147 0 147 25,754 0 25,754
       
Total debt 357 0 357 47,982 1,718 49,700
       
Net assets (equity) 21 0 21 4,343 5,103 9,446
       
Total purchase price   691   35,698
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Historic Cost Depreciation and Amortisation Carrying Amounts

€ 000s Balance  
at 01.01.

Acquisitions Additions Disposals Reclassifi-
cations

Currency 
effects

Balance 
at 30.09.

Balance 
at 01.01.

Acquisitions Additions Disposals Reclassifi-
cations

Currency 
effects

Balance 
at 30.09.

Balance 
at 30.09.

Balance 
at 01.01.

Development in intangible assets

2009
Industrial property rights and similar rights and values 1,375 240 554 0 0 0 2,169 437 147 340 0 78 0 1,002 1,167 938

Brand 1,240 0 0 0 0 0 1,240 41 0 62 0 0 0 103 1,137 1,199

Customer relationships 3,367 0 0 0 5,064 0 8,431 169 0 651 0 0 0 820 7,611 3,198

Technology 0 0 0 0 3,792 0 3,792 0 0 316 0 0 0 316 3,476 0

Orders on hand 1,848 0 0 0 200 0 2,048 924 0 1,074 0 0 0 1,998 50 924

Goodwill 12,767 0 0 0 7,089 0 19,856 1,579 0 0 0 0 0 1,579 18,277 11,188

Development expenses 13,378 1,142 7,919 0 0 0 22,439 3,466 0 2,181 0 -78 0 5,569 16,870 9,912

33,975 1,382 8,473 0 16,145 0 59,975 6,616 147 4,624 0 0 0 11,387 48,588 27,359

2010
Industrial property rights and similar rights and values 2,245 743 390 31 0 0 3,347 1,114 265 616 21 0 0 1,974 1,373 1,131

Brand 1,240 0 0 0 0 0 1,240 124 0 62 0 0 0 186 1,054 1,116

Customer relationships 8,015 0 22,347 0 0 0 30,362 1,051 0 1,918 0 0 0 2,969 27,393 6,964

Technology 3,792 0 167 0 0 0 3,959 434 0 368 0 0 0 802 3,157 3,358

Orders on hand 2,048 0 1,298 0 0 0 3,346 2,048 0 649 0 0 0 2,697 649 0

Goodwill 19,703 0 9,200 0 0 0 28,903 1,579 0 0 0 0 0 1,579 27,324 18,124

Development expenses 25,254 22,693 14,795 0 0 28 62,770 6,362 6,518 4,394 0 0 0 17,274 45,496 18,892

62,297 23,436 48,197 31 0 28 133,927 12,712 6,783 8,007 21 0 0 27,481 106,446 49,585

Development in property, plant and equipment

2009
Land 577 0 147 0 0 0 724 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 723 576

Buildings 14,855 2,260 328 32 0 0 17,411 1,114 625 371 0 0 0 2,110 15,301 13,741

Technical equipment and machinery 4,266 630 2,366 0 659 0 7,921 1,363 285 515 0 0 0 2,163 5,758 2,903

Other equipment, office and plant equipment 4,959 879 1,241 24 0 0 7,055 1,817 679 675 3 0 0 3,168 3,887 3,142

Prepayments made and assets under construction 713 0 1,461 0 -659 0 1,515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,515 713

25,370 3,769 5,543 56 0 0 34,626 4,295 1,589 1,561 3 0 0 7,442 27,184 21,075

2010
Land 727 0 0 0 0 0 727 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 726 726

Buildings 17,340 0 -91 0 0 0 17,249 2,220 0 389 0 0 0 2,609 14,640 15,120

Technical equipment and machinery 8,509 1,175 1,409 518 1,108 0 11,683 2,477 881 786 494 0 0 3,650 8,033 6,032

Other equipment, office and plant equipment 7,583 2,831 1,674 656 21 0 11,453 3,270 1,303 1,225 554 0 0 5,244 6,209 4,313

Prepayments made and assets under construction 1,837 0 5,489 54 -1,129 0 6,143 0 0 -23 57 0 0 -80 6,223 1,837

35,996 4,006 8,481 1,228 0 0 47,255 7,968 2,184 2,377 1,105 0 0 11,424 35,831 28,028

Development in financial assets

Shares in non-consolidated subsidiaries

2009 11,006 242 12 86 -10,999 0 175 0 51 0 51 0 0 0 175 11,006

2010 384 0 0 333 0 0 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51 384

Total non-current assets excluding investment property 2009 70,351 5,393 14,028 142 5,146 0 94,776 10,911 1,787 6,185 54 0 0 18,829 75,947 59,440

Total non-current assets excluding investment property 2010 98,677 27,442 56,678 1,592 0 28 181,233 20,680 8,967 10,384 1,126 0 0 38,905 142,328 77,997

Development in investment property

2009 335 0 0 0 0 0 335 164 0 8 0 0 0 172 163 171

2010 335 0 1 0 0 0 336 175 0 8 0 0 0 183 153 160

Total non-current assets including investment property 2009 70,686 5,393 14,028 142 5,146 0 95,111 11,075 1,787 6,193 54 0 0 19,001 76,110 59,611

Total non-current assets including investment property 2010 99,012 27,442 56,679 1,592 0 28 181,569 20,855 8,967 10,392 1,126 0 0 39,088 142,481 78,157

3.2. Non-current asset development
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Historic Cost Depreciation and Amortisation Carrying Amounts

€ 000s Balance  
at 01.01.

Acquisitions Additions Disposals Reclassifi-
cations

Currency 
effects

Balance 
at 30.09.

Balance 
at 01.01.

Acquisitions Additions Disposals Reclassifi-
cations

Currency 
effects

Balance 
at 30.09.

Balance 
at 30.09.

Balance 
at 01.01.

Development in intangible assets

2009
Industrial property rights and similar rights and values 1,375 240 554 0 0 0 2,169 437 147 340 0 78 0 1,002 1,167 938

Brand 1,240 0 0 0 0 0 1,240 41 0 62 0 0 0 103 1,137 1,199

Customer relationships 3,367 0 0 0 5,064 0 8,431 169 0 651 0 0 0 820 7,611 3,198

Technology 0 0 0 0 3,792 0 3,792 0 0 316 0 0 0 316 3,476 0

Orders on hand 1,848 0 0 0 200 0 2,048 924 0 1,074 0 0 0 1,998 50 924

Goodwill 12,767 0 0 0 7,089 0 19,856 1,579 0 0 0 0 0 1,579 18,277 11,188

Development expenses 13,378 1,142 7,919 0 0 0 22,439 3,466 0 2,181 0 -78 0 5,569 16,870 9,912

33,975 1,382 8,473 0 16,145 0 59,975 6,616 147 4,624 0 0 0 11,387 48,588 27,359

2010
Industrial property rights and similar rights and values 2,245 743 390 31 0 0 3,347 1,114 265 616 21 0 0 1,974 1,373 1,131

Brand 1,240 0 0 0 0 0 1,240 124 0 62 0 0 0 186 1,054 1,116

Customer relationships 8,015 0 22,347 0 0 0 30,362 1,051 0 1,918 0 0 0 2,969 27,393 6,964

Technology 3,792 0 167 0 0 0 3,959 434 0 368 0 0 0 802 3,157 3,358

Orders on hand 2,048 0 1,298 0 0 0 3,346 2,048 0 649 0 0 0 2,697 649 0

Goodwill 19,703 0 9,200 0 0 0 28,903 1,579 0 0 0 0 0 1,579 27,324 18,124

Development expenses 25,254 22,693 14,795 0 0 28 62,770 6,362 6,518 4,394 0 0 0 17,274 45,496 18,892

62,297 23,436 48,197 31 0 28 133,927 12,712 6,783 8,007 21 0 0 27,481 106,446 49,585

Development in property, plant and equipment

2009
Land 577 0 147 0 0 0 724 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 723 576

Buildings 14,855 2,260 328 32 0 0 17,411 1,114 625 371 0 0 0 2,110 15,301 13,741

Technical equipment and machinery 4,266 630 2,366 0 659 0 7,921 1,363 285 515 0 0 0 2,163 5,758 2,903

Other equipment, office and plant equipment 4,959 879 1,241 24 0 0 7,055 1,817 679 675 3 0 0 3,168 3,887 3,142

Prepayments made and assets under construction 713 0 1,461 0 -659 0 1,515 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,515 713

25,370 3,769 5,543 56 0 0 34,626 4,295 1,589 1,561 3 0 0 7,442 27,184 21,075

2010
Land 727 0 0 0 0 0 727 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 726 726

Buildings 17,340 0 -91 0 0 0 17,249 2,220 0 389 0 0 0 2,609 14,640 15,120

Technical equipment and machinery 8,509 1,175 1,409 518 1,108 0 11,683 2,477 881 786 494 0 0 3,650 8,033 6,032

Other equipment, office and plant equipment 7,583 2,831 1,674 656 21 0 11,453 3,270 1,303 1,225 554 0 0 5,244 6,209 4,313

Prepayments made and assets under construction 1,837 0 5,489 54 -1,129 0 6,143 0 0 -23 57 0 0 -80 6,223 1,837

35,996 4,006 8,481 1,228 0 0 47,255 7,968 2,184 2,377 1,105 0 0 11,424 35,831 28,028

Development in financial assets

Shares in non-consolidated subsidiaries

2009 11,006 242 12 86 -10,999 0 175 0 51 0 51 0 0 0 175 11,006

2010 384 0 0 333 0 0 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 51 384

Total non-current assets excluding investment property 2009 70,351 5,393 14,028 142 5,146 0 94,776 10,911 1,787 6,185 54 0 0 18,829 75,947 59,440

Total non-current assets excluding investment property 2010 98,677 27,442 56,678 1,592 0 28 181,233 20,680 8,967 10,384 1,126 0 0 38,905 142,328 77,997

Development in investment property

2009 335 0 0 0 0 0 335 164 0 8 0 0 0 172 163 171

2010 335 0 1 0 0 0 336 175 0 8 0 0 0 183 153 160

Total non-current assets including investment property 2009 70,686 5,393 14,028 142 5,146 0 95,111 11,075 1,787 6,193 54 0 0 19,001 76,110 59,611

Total non-current assets including investment property 2010 99,012 27,442 56,679 1,592 0 28 181,569 20,855 8,967 10,392 1,126 0 0 39,088 142,481 78,157
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3.3. Non-current assets

Roth & Rau has participated with an amount of US$ 15 million in a financing round of US$ 41 million in 
total. Unlike the other participants, however, Roth & Rau is not contributing its amount in cash, but is 
offsetting it against outstanding payment receivables. The financing will be made available by all par-
ticipants in the financing round in the form of a convertible bond with a term running until 20 Decem-
ber 2014. Scheduled repayment begins on 1 July 2011 and provides a one-off special repayment as of 
30 June 2011. In the event of non-payment by the customer, the convertible bond can be converted 
into shares in this unlisted customer. The bond creditors receive security over the customer’s entire 
assets. In the event of insolvency, their claims would therefore be satisfied before those of all other 
creditors. 

Supplies amounting to US$ 24,167k were invoiced in the first 9 months. Of these, an amount of  
US$ 12,081k has been paid and an amount of US$ 10,312k included in the convertible bond. This item 
has been recognised at cost under non-current assets.

3.4. Current assets

3.4.1. Inventories

€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
   
Raw materials and supplies 25,237 5,512
Work in progress 127,888 5,549
Less prepayments received -99,136 0
Finished products and goods 2,418 1,275
Prepayments made  16,288 9,664
Total 72,695 22,000

Due to insufficient project progress, components ready for supply and worth € 15,235k were reclassified 
to own account as of 30 September 2010. In line with customary commercial prudence, these items 
have been written down to net sale value, with impairment losses of € 2,868k being recognised as a 
result. The components now held in stock enable Roth & Rau to deliver products at short notice. An 
amount of € 12,415k is attributable to stocks held by the OTB Solar Group, a company acquired in the 
current financial year. Stocks of raw materials and supplies have been increased by the gradual con-
version to a modular production concept for the second generation of coating systems.

We expect finished products to be realised within twelve months.
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3.4.2. Receivables from long-term construction contracts

This item is structured as follows:

€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
   
ASSETS   
Receivables 229,457 243,233
. /. less prepayments received -161,605 -148,801
Net balance 67,852 94,432
 
LIABILITIES   
Receivables 61,751 40,544
. /. less prepayments received -68,868 -43,012
Net balance -7,117 -2,468

 

The respective orders are reported under “receivables from long-term construction contracts” on the 
asset side and under “liabilities from long-term construction contracts” on the liabilities side. In cases 
where the prepayments exceed the cumulative work performed, the excess balance is reported as a 
liability under liabilities from long-term construction contracts or under prepayments received.

3.4.3. Trade and other receivables 

€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
   
Trade receivables 21,535 26,671
Other receivables and financial assets 7,874 6,714
Total 29,409 33,385

Trade receivables have terms of under one year. There are allowances of € 3,047k (previous year:  
€ 1,995k). Individual allowances are recognised based on the assessment of the Management Board. 
Reference is made to criteria such as the number of days overdue and creditworthiness checks 
obtained from external institutions.

 Balance Additions due    Balance at 
€ 000s at 01.01 to acquisitions Utilised Reversed Added 30.09.2010
       
Individual allowance 1,640 0 228 164 1,477 2,725
General portfolio  
allowance 355 74 6 183 82 322
Total 1,995 74 234 347 1,559 3,047
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Other receivables and financial assets are structured as follows:
 
€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
   
Commission prepayments 893 0
Suppliers with debit balances 0 641
Deferred expense grants (research and development) 2,400 1,628
2008 investment grant 0 1,067
Deferred interest claims 15 43
Deferred bonuses 112 57
Financial derivatives 5 31
Receivables from insurance companies 1,542 1,368
Deferred expenses and accrued income 1,239 1,272
Miscellaneous 1,668 607
Total 7,874 6,714

The miscellaneous item includes prepayments to suppliers and deposits amounting to € 619k in total.

3.4.4. Current tax receivables
This item includes tax refund claims in connection with VAT, corporate income tax, the solidarity  
surcharge and trade tax.

€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
 
Taxes on income 5,010 2,848
Value added tax 3,310 369
Total 8,320 3,217

3.4.5. Cash and cash equivalents 

€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
   
Cash holdings 17 11
Credit balances at banks 30,929 31,687
Marketable securities 29,358 34,343
Total 60,304 66,041

Cash and cash equivalents are recognised at face value.

In addition to cash holdings and short-term bank deposits with terms of less than three months, this 
item also includes time and overnight deposits, as well as securities involving investments in money 
market funds which are available on a daily basis and thus classified as cash equivalents. The securi-
ties belong without exception to the “available for sale” category and are measured at fair value. 
Changes in their value are recognised in equity until disposal. Purchases and sales are recognised as 
of the settlement date.
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3.5. Shareholders’ equity

Reference is made to the Statement of Changes in Group Equity for further information on changes in 
shareholders’ equity at the Roth & Rau Group in the first three quarters of 2010.

3.5.1. Share capital
Share capital amounted to € 16,203k as of 30 September 2010 (31 December 2009: € 13,800k) and was 
divided into 16,207,045 individual non-par bearer shares. All individual shares are paid up in full or 
have been contributed in kind. Due to the acquisition of 4,500 treasury stock shares on 24 June 2010, 
the share capital reduced by € 4k from € 16,207k to € 16,203k.

Roth & Rau AG successfully executed a share placement by way of an accelerated book building 
procedure on 10 February 2010. A total of 1,379,999 shares were placed at a price of € 26.00 per share 
in the context of a private placement. The transaction provided Roth & Rau AG with gross issue 
proceeds of around € 35.9 million, which are to be used to strengthen the company’s balance sheet  
structure and partly to finance the acquisition of OTB Solar B.V. The issue of 1,379,999 bearer shares 
with a prorated amount of € 1.00 each in the company’s share capital was executed as a capital 
increase from authorised capital. As a result, the company’s share capital increased from € 13,800,000 
to € 15,179,999. 

By drawing on the authorisation granted by amendment to the Articles of Association on 18 May 2009, 
the share capital was increased by € 1,027,046.00 to € 16,207,045.00. From 6 April 2010, the share  
capital therefore amounted to € 16,207,045.00. Following partial utilisation, the authorised capital cre-
ated by resolution on 18 May 2009 (Authorised Capital II) amounts to € 1,732,954.00. In respect of the 
capital increase in return for non-cash contributions, a report compiled by SUSAT & PARTNER OHG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft on its audit performed pursuant to § 205 (5) of the German Stock  
Corporation Act (AktG) in conjunction with § 3 (3) to (5), (34) and (35) of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG) and dated 17 March 2010 is available. This report confirms that the value of the shares 
acquired by Roth & Rau AG in OTB Solar as of 17 March 2010 exceeds the lowest issue amount for the 
Roth & Rau shares issued for this purpose plus the agreed additional cash payment of € 6,527,046 in total.

This capital increase in return for non-cash contributions was partly exercised to finance the takeover 
of OTB Solar B.V. This involved 1,027,046 new shares being issued to OTB Solar’s parent company, 
OTB Group B.V., which in return transferred all shares in OTB Solar to Roth & Rau AG. 

Both capital increases were executed to the exclusion of existing shareholders’ subscription rights, 
as a result of which the shares held by existing shareholders were diluted. The new shareholder 
structure of Roth & Rau AG is as follows: Dr. Dietmar Roth (founder and CEO) now holds 4.90 %  
(previously: 5.24 %), Dr. Bernd Rau (founder) 4.65 % (previously: 4.96 %) and Prof. Dr. Silvia Roth 
(founder) 1.80 % (previously: 1.93 %) of the shares in Roth & Rau AG. Furthermore, as a new major 
shareholder the OTB Group B.V. now holds 6.34 % of Roth & Rau’s shares. The OTB Group’s shares  
are subject to a lockup period of 16 months following issue.

Acting on the authorization to acquire treasury stock granted by the Annual General Meeting on  
18 May 2009 and by resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 21 May 2010, Roth & Rau AG 
acquired 4,500 treasury stock shares (0.03 % of share capital). These shares are to be transferred to 
employees as a token of appreciation upon the 20th anniversary of the company’s foundation. 

To promote the achievement of its financial targets, Roth & Rau has introduced a share-based com-
pensation programme (phantom stock programme or PSP) as a long-term compensation instrument 
entitling managers and selected employees to subscribe phantom stock. 
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3.5.2. Capital reserve
The increase in the capital reserve includes the premiums on the issue of shares amounting to  
€ 63,473k, net of issue-related expenses of € 2,278k less the allocable income tax benefit of € 665k.  
Furthermore, the capital reserve includes the equity-settled share of phantom stocks, amounting to  
€ 44k (previous year: € 47k).

3.5.3. Revenue reserves
Revenue reserves have increased by € 41k compared with the balance sheet date on 31 December 2009.

3.5.4. Other reserves
Other reserves contain changes in the value of available-for-sale securities, including allocable 
deferred taxes, and are recognised directly in equity. 

 Cash flow  Available Acquisition of Foreign currency
€ 000s hedge for sale treasury stock differences Total
    
Balance at 01.01.2010 0 46 0 8 54
Additions 5 160 0 20 185
Withdrawals  0 -135 -98 0 -233
Changes in  
deferred taxes -2 -7 0 0 -9
Balance at 30.09.2010 3 64 -98 28 -3
     
 
 Cash flow  Available  
 hedge for sale Acquisition of Foreign currency 
€ 000s (revised) (revised) treasury stock differences Total 
 
Balance at 01.01.2009 -250 495 0 0 245
Additions 400 167 0 8 575
Withdrawals  -47 -802 0 0 -849
Changes in  
deferred taxes -103 186 0 0 83
Balance at 31.12.2009 0 46 0 8 54

3.5.5. Unappropriated retained earnings 
Unappropriated retained earnings developed as follows:

€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
   
Earnings carried forward as of 01.01. 47,744 34,815
Consolidated net income attributable  
to shareholders in Roth & Rau AG 2,776 12,929
Allocation to revenue reserves -41 0
Unappropriated retained earnings  
as of balance sheet date 50,479 47,744

 
3.5.6. Minority interests
Of the consolidated net income, an amount of € 2,843k is attributable to USK Karl Utz Sondermaschinen 
GmbH (“USK”) and an amount of € 67k is attributable to the shareholders in R³T GmbH.
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3.6. Non-current debt

3.6.1. Non-current loans
  
     Interest rate 
€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009 Repayment  Interest rate fixed until 
      
Deutsche Bank AG loan 440 513 half-yearly 3,85 % 30.09.2016
Deutsche Bank AG loan 375 438 half-yearly 4,25 % 30.09.2016
Sparkasse  
Langen-Seligenstadt loan 409 409 maturity 5,65 % 30.10.2013
Sparkasse  
Langen-Seligenstadt loan 715 715 maturity 5,65 % 30.10.2013
BW Bank loan 1,400 1,600 half-yearly 3M-Euribor 3 month 
    +0,60 %
BW Bank loan 350 500 quarterly 5,15 % 30.06.2012
Sparkasse  
Chemnitz loan 350 500 quarterly 5,15 % 30.06.2012
Other loans 519 0   
 4,558 4,675   
 
Less current portion -1.214 -936   
 3,344 3,739   

The loans from Sparkasse Chemnitz and Baden-Württembergische Bank (BW Bank) were concluded 
in June 2007 at a nominal value of € 1,000k each. They have fixed interest rates of 5.15 % and require 
quarterly repayments of € 50k in each case. The repayment amounts due in 2010 have therefore been 
recognised as the current portion.

Roth & Rau AG took up a loan originally amounting to € 2,000k with a floating interest rate from  
BW Bank to finance the second stage of construction in Hohenstein-Ernstthal. The floating interest 
rate is hedged with an interest swap. The liabilities reported towards the Sparkasse and BW Bank are 
secured by land charges. 

The loans from Deutsche Bank involve fixed-interest loans at AIS Automation Dresden GmbH, a  
company acquired in 2008. The loans are redeemed with total annual repayments of € 136k.

Financial debt is recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Upon the acquisition of OTB, an existing loan of € 22,228k at Coöperatieve Centrale  
Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank B.A. was redeemed by Roth & Rau AG.

3.6.2. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
Deferred taxes have been calculated using a tax rate of 29.2 % (previous year: 29.2 %). The calculation 
of deferred taxes has been based on a corporate income tax rate of 15 %. Moreover, account has 
also been taken of a solidarity surcharge of 5.5 % of corporate income tax and an average trade tax 
multiplier of 382 %. 
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Tax loss carryovers were assumed upon the acquisition of OTB. According to tax experts, it is expect-
ed to be possible to use both the existing tax loss carryovers of around € 1.2 million at PixDro B. V. at 
the end of 2009 and the tax losses resulting from the write-down of goodwill, amounting to around  
€ 7.9 million a year, up to and including 2017. There is a theoretical risk that Roth & Rau will be unable 
to use the existing loss carryovers and tax-related goodwill. Based on our assessment, however, this 
risk is to be classified as hypothetical, as a result of which deferred tax assets of € 22,498k have been 
recognised in the IFRS opening balance sheet. 

3.6.3. Non-current provisions
This item includes the cash-settled share of the measurement of the phantom stock programme, 
amounting to € 27k (previous year: € 109k), and an amount of € 130k to account for the measurement of 
the small volume of risks remaining at Roth & Rau in connection with fund-financed pensions, as well 
as other provisions of € 8k. 

3.6.3.1. Phantom stock 
To promote the achievement of its financial targets, Roth & Rau has introduced a share-based com-
pensation programme (phantom stock programme or PSP) as a long-term compensation instrument 
entitling managers and selected employees to subscribe phantom stock. 

The following table presents the change in phantom stocks outstanding in the first, second and third 
tranches.

 Number in 2010 Number in 2009 

Granted in  2008 57,000 57,000
Granted in  2009 66,000 66,000
Granted in  2010 102,000 0
Forfeited 0 0
Exercised 0 0
Lapsed -57,000 -4,000
Balance at end of period 168,000 119,000
  

Of the 168,000 phantom stocks outstanding, none was yet exercisable as of 30 September 2010. Of 
these option rights, 84,000 are equity-settled and 84,000 cash-settled.

The phantom stock options allocated on 1 September 2008 in the first tranche (57,000 options) have 
lapsed without replacement, as the exercise hurdle was not achieved following expiry of the lockup 
period on 1 September 2010. The options outstanding at the end of the reporting period are due on  
1 September 2011 in the case of the second tranche and on 1 September 2012 in the case of the third 
tranche.
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The following items were recognised as provisions and in the capital reserve in connection with the 
phantom stock option programme in the third quarter of 2010:
        Provision
  Intrinsic value Current  as of 
 Number at per option in € =   value per Payment 30.09.2010
Cash-settled portion 30.09.2010 payment amount option in € obligation € 000s
      
2009 tranche 42,000 0 1.061 0 24
2010 tranche 42,000 0 1.495 0 3
 
 
     Capital reserve
  Intrinsic value Current  as of 
 Number at per option in € =   value per Payment 30.09.2010
Equity-settled portion 30.09.2010 payment amount option in € obligation € 000s
      
2009 tranche 24,000 0 3.012 0 39
2010 tranche 60,000 0 1.953 0 5
 

In the period under report, the provision recognised in connection with the option programme was 
reduced from € 109k to € 27k and the capital reserve was reduced from € 47k to € 44k.

The cash-settled portion (84,000 options) has been recognised under non-current provisions. The 
equity-settled portion (84,000 options) has been recognised in the capital reserve within shareholders’ 
equity in the balance sheet.

3.6.3.2. Pension obligation 
Alongside its own defined benefit pension plans, the Group also assumed defined benefit plans upon 
its acquisition of AIS Automation Dresden GmbH. Having already assigned the pension commitments 
at Roth & Rau AG to Deutscher Pensionsfonds in 2008, in 2009 the Group outsourced the pension  
commitments at AIS Automation Dresden GmbH by way of assignment to Deutscher Pensionsfonds 
(DPAG) pursuant to § 3 (66) of the German Income Tax Act (EStG) and to the ZDHUK pension fund  
pursuant to § 4d of the German Income Tax Act (EStG). 

Furthermore, pension commitments have been made to two Management Board members, namely 
Carsten Bovenschen and Thomas Hengst. These are financed via a pension fund. As a small volume 
of risks remain at the Group, a defined benefit obligation still has to be recognised at the Group. The 
asset surplus of plan assets over the pension provision for Roth & Rau AG and AIS Automation  
Dresden GmbH, amounting to € 126k (previous year: € 480k) has been recognised as an asset of € 256k 
under other receivables (previous year: € 480k) and as a provision of € 130k under non-current provi-
sions (previous year: € 0k).
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3.7. Current debt

3.7.1. Liabilities from long-term construction contracts 
Reference is made to Note 3.4.2. in respect of liabilities from long-term construction contracts.

3.7.2. Trade payables and other liabilities 

€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
   
Trade payables 42,718 33,856
Other liabilities 4,844 1,333
Total 47,562 35,189

 

Trade payables all have remaining terms of under one year. 

Foreign currency liabilities were measured at the reporting date rate; all other liabilities were measured 
at their respective repayment amounts. They include a large number of individual items. There are no 
material variances between carrying amounts and fair values.

Other liabilities  
€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
   
Financial instruments  
Customer credit balances 87 266
Derivative financial instruments 119 137
Miscellaneous 3,224 471
 3,430 874
Other  
Deferred income and accrued expenses 65 12
Personnel liabilities  1,349 447
 1,414 459

Total 4,844 1,333

 

Other liabilities all have remaining terms of under one year. The other liabilities of € 3,224k also include 
liabilities of € 2,850k in connection with acquisitions.
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3.7.3. Prepayments received

€ 000s 30.09.2010 31.12.2009
   
Total 233,983 197,102
         of which due within one year 233,983 197,102
         of which secured by bank guarantees 48,340 28,529
         of which netted with receivables 154,049 148,801
         of which netted with liabilities 68,868 43,012
         of which recognised as liabilities 11,066 5,289
 

3.7.4. Current loans
Current loans consist of the repayment amounts for non-current loans due in 2010 (€ 1,214k).  
Reference is made to Note 3.6.1..

3.7.5. Current tax liabilities 
This item includes expected retrospective payments of € 1,410k (previous year: € 607k) for trade tax, 
corporate income tax and the solidarity surcharge, as well as of € 626k (previous year: € 655k) for VAT 
and payroll taxes, and of € 256k for other taxes, amounting to € 2,292k in total (previous year: € 1,262k).

3.7.6. Current provisions  

 Balance at Addition due     Balance at
€ 000s 01.01.2010 to acquisition Utilised  Reversed Added 30.09.2010
 
Other  
provisions       
Personnel 4,352 1,412 3,696 604 5,161 6,625
Outstanding  
invoices/services 2,287 5,039 1,183 179 9,296 15,260
Guarantee  1,927 1,862 260 434 1,689 4,784
Miscellaneous 2,003 4 1,287 389 731 1,062
Total 10,569 8,317 6,426 1,606 16,876 27,730

Current provisions for personnel mainly involve overtime, bonuses, the employers’ liability insurance 
association and vacation. Outstanding invoices and services chiefly relate to sales commissions and 
invoices still outstanding for materials and third-party services. The provision for warranties has been 
calculated on the basis of historic warranty expenses and estimates of future costs. The level of provision 
accounts both for guarantee expenses actually incurred in the past and for technical information  
concerning product weaknesses discovered in the construction or trial stages or upon installation of 
the product. The outflow of the amounts stated as provisions is expected to occur within one year.
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4.  Disclosures on individual items  
in the income statement

The income statement has been prepared using the total cost method. An income statement prepared 
using the cost of sales method has been additionally presented for information purposes. 

4.1. Sales

The company recognises its sales in accordance with IAS 18. Sales rose by 18.6 % compared with the 
previous year. A breakdown of sales by products and regions has been presented in Note 3.

The sales of € 189,238k (previous year: € 159,514k) include sales of € 4,921k from long-term construc-
tion contracts (previous year: € 3,981k).

4.2.  Increase/decrease in stocks of finished  
products and work in progress 

Stocks of finished products and work in progress increased by € 38,505k (previous year: € -562k). One 
key item that increased stocks was the reclassification of components in connection with suspended 
customer orders to work in progress (€ 15,235k). These stocks have been written down to their net 
sale value, with impairment losses of € 2,868k being recognised as a result. Of the increase in stocks, 
an amount of € 23,710k is attributable to the OTB Solar Group.

4.3. Capitalised services rendered to own account 

The capitalised services rendered to own account of € 18,303k (previous year: € 12,114k) chiefly 
involve capitalised manufacturing costs for development work, amounting to € 16,379k (previous year: 
€ 8,795k), as well as costs of manufacturing proprietary systems and machines, amounting to € 1,924k 
(previous year: € 3,319k). Roth & Rau received government grants of € 1,584k (previous year: € 831k) 
for capitalised development expenses. 

€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009
   
Capitalised services rendered to own account for  
publicly subsidised research and development projects 16,379 8,795
Capitalised services rendered to  
own account for internally used equipment 1,924 3,319
Total 18,303 12,114
 

4.4. Other operating income 

Other operating income mainly includes income from the reversal of provisions (€ 1,606k), income 
from exchange rate movements (€ 681k), income from the transfer of pension fund assets (€ 256k) and 
numerous smaller amounts.



52 | 53Roth & Rau AG  Interim Report as of 30 September 2010

4.5. Cost of materials

€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009
   
Cost of raw materials, supplies  
and purchased goods 126,104 96,241
Cost of purchased services 25,065 8,754
Total 151,169 104,995

The materials quota amounted to 79.9 % as a percentage of sales (previous year: 65.8 %). Expenses 
for purchased services mainly include the costs of contract staff. The expenses for raw materials, 
supplies and purchased goods include both system construction components and components for the 
turnkey business.

4.6. Personnel expenses

The composition of personnel expenses is presented in the following table.
 
€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009
   
Wages and salaries 37,911 23,653
Social security contributions 5,921 3,840
Pension expenses 921 343
Total 44,753 27,836

The 1,181 employees at the balance sheet date (previous year: 857) were deployed as follows:
 

 30.09.2010 30.09.2009
   
Production 439 334
Research and development 158 107
Technology and sales 391 238
Administration 141 130
Other 14 16
Subtotal 1,143 825
Trainees 38 32
Total 1,181 857

The OTB Group accounted for 178 employees included in group statistics for the first time as of  
1 April 2010.
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4.7. Depreciation and amortisation 

Scheduled depreciation and amortisation    
€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009
   
Intangible assets 8,007 4,624
Property, plant and equipment 2,377 1,561
Total 10,384 6,185

4.8. Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses mainly consist of impairments of receivables, the recognition of provisions, 
expenses for foreign exchange differences, derivative hedging instruments and cancellation 
agreements.

€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009
   
Premise expenses 2,934 1,345
Insurances, contributions and fees 1,325 738
Maintenance and repairs 1,046 479
Vehicle expenses 1,343 867
Advertising and travel expenses 10,859 4,615
Merchandise distribution expenses 8,980 3,803
Impairment losses on current assets 1,832 1,239
Foreign exchange differences 617 1,206
Legal and advisory expenses 6,741 3,983
Other operating expenses 5,305 4,942
Total 40,982 23,217

Miscellaneous operating expenses relate in particular to telephone, IT and training costs, as well as 
to patent registration fees, operating supplies and operating leasing.

4.9. Net financial result

€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009
   
Price gains on fixed-income securities 181 836
Interest income 441 827
Subtotal 622 1,663
   
Interest expenses for banks 384 355
Expenses for shareholding 22 0
Interests for expenses for pension 53 30
Guarantee fees 273 517
Write-downs on marketable securities 28 100
Write-downs on investment property 8 8
Subtotal 768 1,010
Net total -146 653
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 Interest income mainly includes income on short-term money market investments.

4.10. Taxes on income
 
€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009
 
Current tax expenses 1,737 962
Deferred tax expenses -1,722 2,209
Total 15 3,171

The tax rate amounts to 0.5 % and should be seen in connection with a tax-optimised investment  
concept that has impacted positively on the tax rate given the current earnings position.

4.11. Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated as the quotient of the earnings attributable to shareholders and the 
weighted average number of shares in circulation during the financial year. 
 
€ 000s 30.09.2010 30.09.2009
   
Net income for period 2,842,909.67 10,609,116.18
Earnings attributable to minority interests 67,011.60 38,325.90
Consolidated net income 2,775,898.07 10,570,790.28
  
Average number of shares 15,618,388 13,800,000
  
Earnings per share (€ / share) 0.18 0.77
 

Consolidated income amounted to € 2,775,898.07 as of 30 September 2010 (30 September 2009:  
€ 10,570,790.28). Accordingly, basic earnings per share calculated pursuant to IAS 33 amount to  
€ 0.18 (30 September 2009: € 0.77). 

No shares were outstanding either as of 30 September 2010 or as of 31 December 2009 which could 
have diluted earnings per share. On 10 February 2010 the share capital was increased by issuing 
1,379,999 new shares. Furthermore, a capital increase in return for non-cash contributions was  
executed in April 2010, partly in order finance the takeover of OTB Solar B.V. This involved issuing 
1,027,046 new shares to OTB Solar’s parent company, OTB Group B.V., which in return transferred  
all of the shares of OTB to Roth & Rau AG. Roth & Rau AG acquired 4,500 treasury stock shares  
(equivalent to 0.03 % of the share capital) on 24 June 2010. 
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5. Other disclosures

5.1. Related party disclosures

Related parties of Roth & Rau AG are: members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board, 
including their family relatives, and companies over which Roth & Rau AG, members of the Manage-
ment and Supervisory Boards and their close family relations can exercise significant influence. 

Sascha Roth left his position as Director of Group Controlling at Roth & Rau AG as of 1 July 2010 and 
moved to AIS Automation Dresden GmbH, a wholly-owned subsidiary, where he has assumed the 
position of Director of Finance and Controlling. 

There were no other material changes since the balance sheet date. The contractual arrangements 
with related parties outlined in the consolidated financial statements continue to apply without 
amendment.

5.2. Events after the balance sheet date

The Supervisory Board of Roth & Rau AG decided to extend the Management Board team, previously 
consisting of three members, and appointed Dr. Paul Breddels (54) to the Management Board as Chief 
Operating Officer (COO) as of 1 September 2010. Dr. Breddels is responsible for the production, quality 
management, supply chain and product management /development departments. Moreover, he is also 
responsible for integrating new group companies.

On 10 August 2010, the Supervisory Board also resolved to expand the Group’s headquarters in  
Saxony in order to prepare the Roth & Rau Group for its planned further growth. To this end, it is 
planned to build a new office building to act as a new centre and link between the two existing office 
buildings and to offer space for around 200 employees. Furthermore, an additional large car park 
offering space for 330 vehicles is planned.

The treasury stock shares acquired in August 2010 on the occasion of the 20th anniversary of the 
company’s foundation were transferred to entitled employees on 1 October 2010 as a token of 
appreciation.

On 3 November 2010, Roth & Rau AG signed a business share purchase and transfer agreement  
enabling it to acquire the remaining 49 % of the shares in SLS Solar Line Saxony GmbH (SLS)  
from USK Karl Utz Sondermaschinen GmbH (USK), Limbach-Oberfrohna. Following the payment of the 
purchase price, Roth & Rau AG now holds 100 % of the shares in this company.



56 | 57Roth & Rau AG  Interim Report as of 30 September 2010

5.3. Directors and officers

The Management Board comprised the following individuals in the third quarter of 2010:
Dr. Dietmar Roth (Chairman)
Carsten Bovenschen 
Thomas Hengst 
Dr. Paul Breddels (entered in Commercial Register on 8 September 2010)

The Supervisory Board comprised the following individuals in the third quarter of 2010:
Eberhard Reiche (Chairman)
Prof. Dr. Alexander Michaelis (Deputy Chairman)
Daniel Schoch

5.4. Approval for publication

The Management Board of Roth & Rau AG approved these IFRS quarterly financial statements for 
publication on 15 November 2010.   

Hohenstein-Ernstthal, 15 November 2010

Dr. Dietmar Roth    Carsten Bovenschen
Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer

Thomas Hengst    Dr. Paul Breddels
Chief Sales Officer    Chief Operating Officer



Responsibility Statement

We hereby affirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the interim consolidated financial statements 
provide a true and fair picture of the net asset, financial and earnings position of the Group in accord-
ance with the accounting principles applicable to interim financial reporting and that the business 
performance, including the business results and situation of the Group, are depicted in the group 
management report so as to provide a true and fair picture of actual circumstances, as well as of the 
principal opportunities and risks involved in the expected development of the Group in the remainder 
of the financial year.

Hohenstein-Ernstthal, 15 November 2010
Roth & Rau AG
The Management Board

Dr. Dietmar Roth    Carsten Bovenschen
Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer

Thomas Hengst    Dr. Paul Breddels
Chief Sales Officer    Chief Operating Officer 
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Forward-looking Statements

This report contains certain forward-looking statements referring in particular to the business, 
financial performance and income of Roth & Rau, to the economic and regulatory framework, to the 
business fields in which the Group operates and other factors. Forward-looking statements relate to 
future facts, events or other circumstances which do not represent historical facts. Such statements 
can be identified by their use of words such as “expect”, “intend”, “plan”, “assume” or “probably”. 
Such statements merely reflect the current expectations of Roth & Rau AG concerning future events 
and are subject to a series of risks and uncertainties. 

These forward-looking statements are based on current estimates and assumptions made by the 
company to the best of its knowledge. Although Roth & Rau AG believes that they are appropriate at 
the present time, they may prove to be erroneous. Numerous factors may result in the actual perform-
ance of the Group, including the development in its net asset, financial and earnings position, deviating 
materially from the developments explicitly or implicitly assumed in the forward-looking statements. 
Should one or several of these changes or uncertainties materialise, or should the assumptions made 
by Roth & Rau AG prove to be inaccurate, then the possibility cannot be excluded that actual events 
will deviate materially from those described in this report as being assumed, estimated or expected. 
The Group may thus be prevented from achieving its financial and strategic targets. Roth & Rau AG 
has no intention of updating the forward-looking statements and sector and customer information 
presented in this report over and above its legal obligation to do so.

Financial Calendar 

German Equity Forum (Eigenkapitalforum), Frankfurt am Main 23 November 2010
2010 Annual Report 31 March 2011
Annual Results Press Conference  
and Analysts’ Conference, Frankfurt am Main 31 March 2011
Interim report as of 31 March 2011 13 May 2011
Interim report as of 30 June 2011 12 August 2011
Interim report as of 30 September 2011 November 2011
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Imprint

Roth & Rau AG
An der Baumschule 6 – 8
09337 Hohenstein-Ernstthal
Tel. + 49 (0) 3723 / 66 85 - 0 
Fax + 49 (0) 3723 / 66 85 -100
investor @ roth-rau.de 
www.roth-rau.de

Investor Relations contact
Haubrok Investor Relations GmbH & Co. KG
Simone Cujai
Tel. +49 (0) 211 / 17 18 35 37
s.cujai @ haubrok.de
www.haubrok.de

Publisher
Roth & Rau AG, Hohenstein-Ernstthal

Concept and editing
Haubrok Investor Relations GmbH & Co. KG

Concept and design
visuphil ®, Düsseldorf

Photography
Corbis 

This report is also available in German. Both versions are available for downloading on the company’s 
website at www.roth-rau.de under Investor Relations/Business Reports/Quarterly Figures. In cases 
of doubt, the German version is authoritative.

Letter to Shareholders
Roth & Rau’s Share
Interim Group Management Report
Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Responsibility Statement
Forward-looking Statements 
Financial Calendar
Contact and Imprint



Roth & Rau AG  Interim Report as of 30 September 2010



Roth & Rau AG
An der Baumschule 6 – 8
09337 Hohenstein-Ernstthal
Tel. + 49 (0) 3723 / 66 85 - 0 
Fax + 49 (0) 3723 / 66 85 - 100
investor @ roth-rau.de
www.roth-rau.de


	Roth & Rau AG Interim Report as of 30 September 2010
	Key Figures (IFRS)
	Contents
	Letter to Shareholders
	Roth & Rau’s Share
	Interim Group Management Report
	Business and economic framework
	Business performance
	Opportunity and risk report
	Events after the balance sheet date
	Outlook

	Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
	Consolidated Balance Sheet
	Consolidated Income Statement (Total cost accounting)
	Consolidated Income Statement (Cost of sales accounting)
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
	Statement of Changes in Group Equity
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

	Responsibility Statement
	Forward-looking Statements
	Imprint


